Roles of microRNAs in mammalian reproduction: from the commitment of germ cells to peri-implantation embryos

Abu Musa Md Talimur Reza<sup>1</sup>, Yun-Jung Choi<sup>1</sup>, Sung Gu Han<sup>2</sup>, Hyuk Song<sup>1</sup>, Chankyu Park<sup>1</sup>, Kwonho Hong<sup>1\*</sup> and Jin-Hoi Kim<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Stem Cell and Regenerative Biotechnology, Humanized Pig Research Centre (SRC), Konkuk University, Seoul 143-701, Republic of Korea

<sup>2</sup>Department of Food Science and Biotechnology of Animal Resources, Konkuk University, Seoul 05029, Republic of Korea

### ABSTRACT

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are active regulators of numerous biological and physiological processes including most of the events of mammalian reproduction. Understanding the biological functions of miRNAs in the context of mammalian reproduction will allow a better and comparative understanding of fertility and sterility in male and female mammals. Herein, we summarize recent progress in miRNA-mediated regulation of mammalian reproduction and highlight the significance of miRNAs in different aspects of mammalian reproduction including the biogenesis of germ cells, the functionality of reproductive organs, and the development of early embryos. Furthermore, we focus on the gene expression regulatory feedback loops involving hormones and miRNA expression to increase our understanding of germ cell commitment and the functioning of reproductive organs. Finally, we discuss the influence of miRNAs on male and female reproductive failure, and provide perspectives for future studies on this topic.

Key words: miRNAs, mammalian reproduction, gametogenesis, hormonal balance, peri-implantation, germ layer specification.

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	415
II.	Loss of miRNA-processing machinery impairs mammalian reproduction	416
III.	miRNAs are involved in sex-specification and commitment of mammalian gonads	417
IV.	Roles of miRNAs in male reproduction	419
	(1) The formation of male gonads	419
	(2) The commitment and maintenance of SSCs	419
	(3) The differentiation of male SSCs to spermatocytes	420
	(4) Meiotic sex chromosome inactivation (MSCI) and chromosomal stability during spermatogenesis	420
	(5) miRNAs as regulators of spermiogenesis and chromatin body compaction	421
	(6) miRNAs regulate maturation and viability of spermatozoa during storage and transportation through	
	the epididymis	421
	(7) miRNAs are potent regulators of male germline cell apoptosis in mammals	421
ν.	Roles of miRNAs in female reproduction	422
	(1) Growth and maturation of ovarian follicles	422
	(2) miRNA expressions varies in the granulosa cells (GCs) and thecal cells (TCs) of the dominant follicles	
	(DFs) and subordinate follicles (SFs)	422
	(3) Atresia and degeneration of ovarian follicles	422

415

<sup>\*</sup> Authors for correspondence (Tel.: +82 2 450 3687; Fax: +82 2 458 5414; E-mail: jhkim541@konkuk.ac.kr); (Tel.: +82 2 450 0560; Fax: +82 2 458 5414; E-mail: hongk@konkuk.ac.kr)

Biological Reviews 94 (2019) 415–438 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	(4) Regulation of luteinization and formation of the CL	423
	(5) The prediction of oocyte quality	423
	(6) miRNAs and extracellular vesicles within follicular fluid	423
VI.	miRNAs are potent regulators of the steroidogenic process during gametogenesis	424
	(1) Hormonal balance and steroidogenesis in males	424
	(2) Hormonal balance and steroidogenesis in females	424
VII.	miRNAs as regulators of zygotic and early embryo reprogramming	427
	(1) Roles during fertilization, ZGA, and epigenetic reprogramming of preimplantation embryos	427
	(2) miRNAs regulate germ-layer specification in early embryos	428
	(3) miRNAs regulate pregnancy by mediating adhesion molecules, vasculature and angiogenesis	430
VIII.	Conclusions	431
IX.	Acknowledgments	431
Х.	References	431
XI.	Supporting Information	437

### I. INTRODUCTION

Mammalian microRNAs (miRNAs) are non-coding RNAs that can regulate post-transcriptional gene expression by targeting the 3'-untranslated region and/or coding region of messenger RNAs (mRNAs) (Hausser et al., 2013), and are involved in the regulation of approximately one-third of all mammalian genes (Lewis, Burge, & Bartel, 2005). While a single miRNA may target many genes, the expression of a particular gene can be modulated by multiple miRNAs (Sood et al., 2006). Hence, miRNAs are involved in the active regulation of biological and physiological processes in both normal and disease conditions (Reza et al., 2016, 2017, 2018a; Reza, Choi, & Kim, 2018b). In mammalian reproduction, miRNAs are widely involved in sex differentiation (Cook & Blelloch, 2013), gametogenesis (Hayashi et al., 2008), fertilization (Hong et al., 2008), zygotic genome activation (ZGA) and early development (Suh et al., 2010), implantation (Liu et al., 2016), germ layer specification (Vidigal & Ventura, 2012), and pregnancy (Otsuka et al., 2008). Understanding the functions of miRNAs in mammalian reproduction will therefore improve our understanding of the biological challenges of mammalian reproduction.

Several reviews have focused on the event-specific involvement of non-coding RNAs (miRNAs, endogenous siRNAs, piwi-interacting RNAs) in the reproduction of different species. However, those reviews included all types of non-coding RNAs and a wide range of species (insects, non-vertebrates, fishes, and birds), in order to develop an understanding of their roles in reproductive biology. To comprehend specifically the roles of miRNAs in mammalian reproduction requires an in-depth review focusing on mammalian species, as mammals are relatively unique in their structure, physiology, and psychology. Furthermore, the available reviews mainly focused on particular aspects of reproduction such as oogenesis (Donadeu, Schauer, & Sontakke, 2012; Hossain et al., 2012a), spermatogenesis (Kotaja, 2014; Yadav & Kotaja, 2014; Hilz et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2017), early embryonic development (Suh & Blelloch, 2011; Cook & Blelloch, 2013; Dallaire & Simard, 2016), or implantation (Liu & Yang, 2011; Dior et al., 2014; Galliano &

Pellicer, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2016), with a holistic review focusing on all processes of mammalian reproduction lacking. Such a holistic review focusing on miRNA involvement in all aspects of mammalian reproduction is necessary to improve our understanding of reproductive biology and to mitigate mammalian reproductive challenges.

Herein, we summarize recent progress in miRNAmediated regulation of mammalian reproduction, and highlight the significance of miRNAs in different aspects of mammalian reproduction including the biogenesis of germ cells, functionality of reproductive organs, and development of early embryos, as well as covering infertility and sterility derived from miRNA deregulation in males and females. First, we discuss impairments and abnormalities caused by depletion of miRNA-processing machinery during germ cell commitment and the functioning of reproductive organs. Second, we discuss how miRNAs interfere at different stages of male and female reproduction. Furthermore, we focus on the distribution and dynamics of miRNAs during gametogenesis, fertilization, embryo development, and implantation, as well as specification to three different germ layers. Finally, we discuss the influence of miRNAs on male and female reproductive failure, and provide a set of conclusive remarks to guide future studies in this topic.

# II. LOSS OF miRNA-PROCESSING MACHINERY IMPAIRS MAMMALIAN REPRODUCTION

Loss of one or both of the components of the miRNAprocessing machinery (Dicer and Drosha) causes severe impairment during gametogenesis, leading to infertility in both males and females (Fig. 1). Especially, Dicer and Drosha are indispensable during the early stages of development such as before sex differentiation (Bernstein *et al.*, 2003), while in the later stages, their loss causes impairment to different extents depending on the stage at which Dicer or Drosha is deleted (Hong *et al.*, 2008; Liu *et al.*, 2010; Liu *et al.*, 2012). However, it is clear that this impairment does not arise from the absence of the proteins themselves, but rather from the associated failure of biogenesis of small-RNAs (miRNAs

Developmental stage	Sex undifferentiated	Sex-specific PGCs to germline stem cells	Developing germ cells
Outcome: miRNA-processing machinery loss	<ul> <li>Embryonic death</li> <li>No pregnancy</li> <li>Further study not possible</li> </ul>	Mating behaviorImpaired migration of PGCsImpaired colonization of PGCsSmall-size germ line poolImpaired gametogenesisDeformed chromatin compaction during spermatogenesisDeformed oocyte/spermatozoaComplete or partial infertility in malesComplete infertility in femalesFailure in sire/dam offspring/smaller litter sizeDeformed reproductive organs	<ul> <li>Less severe than loss in earlier stages</li> <li>Severity depends on the stage of loss: the earlier the loss, the larger the severity</li> <li>Impaired steroidogenesis</li> <li>Impaired gamete structure</li> <li>Smaller germ line pool size</li> <li>Compromised fertility</li> <li>Infertile oocytes/sperm</li> <li>Germ cell apoptosis</li> <li>Deformed reproductive organs</li> </ul>
Developmental stage	Sex undifferentiated	Sex-specific PGCs to germline stem cells	Developing germ cells

**Fig. 1.** Adverse effects of the loss of microRNA (miRNA)-processing machinery during mammalian reproduction. The loss of miRNA-processing machinery can cause reproductive impairment to different extents, including embryonic death, based on the stage at which it is lost. However, mating behaviour of both males and females remains intact. PGC, primordial germ cell.

and endogenous siRNAs) (Papaioannou *et al.*, 2009; Hossain *et al.*, 2012*b*). The severity of *Dicer1* deletion is highly stage and organ specific, with other organs or processes often remaining functional. Interestingly, sexual behaviour, mounting ability, external genitalia, and oestrous are not affected by the depletion of Dicer (Papaioannou *et al.*, 2009).

In the male, primordial germ cell (PGC)-specific deletion of Dicer and Drosha restricts the propagation, differentiation, and maturation of male PGCs (Hayashi et al., 2008) and causes defective spermatozoa and infertility (Maatouk et al., 2008). Spermatogonia-specific ablation of Dicer1 impairs the leptotene to zygotene/pachytene transition during prophase I with an increase in apoptotic pachytene spermatocytes, deformed chromatin compaction, acrosome formation, and sperm-head structure (Romero et al., 2011). Round spermatid-specific deletion of Dicer1 deregulated actin related protein 2/3 complex subunit 5 (Arpc5), leading to abnormal chromatin compaction and causing deformed acrosomes and sperm heads, as well as apoptosis of spermatids in mice (Chang et al., 2012). Sertoli cell-specific deletion of Dicer1 caused apoptosis of Sertoli cells after birth leading to degenerated testes, defective prepubertal spermatogenesis, and infertility (Papaioannou et al., 2009). Epididymis-specific deletion of Dicer1 resulted in imbalanced lipid homeostasis and instability of the sperm membrane (Bjorkgren et al., 2015) as well as leakage of immature spermatocytes to the epididymis and a thick blood-testis barrier with a multilayered organization (Korhonen et al., 2015). Hence, Dicer/Drosha safeguard meiotic progression and the production of spermatozoa, as well as the development of accessory organs, by supplying functional miRNAs.

In females, *Dicer1* loss causes abnormal spindle formation and chromosomal misalignment (Liu et al., 2010), failures in meiotic maturation and polar body formation (Murchison et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2010) and functional defects including impaired granulosa cell (GC) proliferation and steroidogenesis, recruitment of immature follicles, follicular atresia, a smaller pool size of pre-ovulatory follicles, and ovulatory dysfunction followed by infertility (Murchison et al., 2007; Hong et al., 2008; Lei et al., 2010). Dicer1 deficiency impairs the biogenesis of small-RNAs altering gene expression and signalling networks: *Dicer1*-ablated ovaries show deregulation of miR-503 and its targets including anti-mullerian hormone (Amh), inhibin beta A subunit (Inhba), cytochrome P450 family 17 subfamily A member 1 (Cyp17a1), cytochrome P450 family 19 subfamily A member 1 (Cyp19a1), zona pellucida glycoprotein ( $\mathbb{Z}p$ ), growth differentiation factor 9 (Gdf9), and bone morphogenetic protein 15 (Bmp15), leading to impairment of folliculogenesis in mice (Lei et al., 2010). Similarly, inhibition of Dicer1 reduced the expression of polo like kinase 1 (Plk1), aurora kinase A (Aurka), BUB1 mitotic checkpoint serine/threonine kinase (Bub1), and BUB1 mitotic checkpoint serine/threonine kinase B (Bub1b), enhanced abnormal spindle formation and chromosomal misalignment, and lowered the maturation rate of oocytes (Murchison et al., 2007; Tang et al., 2007; Liu et al., 2010).

The replacement of *Dicer1*-ablated ovaries with wild-type (WT) ovaries enable the mice to produce viable offspring, while implantation of *Dicer1*-ablated ovaries into WT mice results in failure to produce offspring (Otsuka *et al.*, 2008). The failure is prominent during post-implantation development, while ovulation, fertilization, and first embryonic cell division appear normal (Otsuka *et al.*, 2008)

and may be due to disintegration of the corpus luteum (CL) and lower progesterone levels (Otsuka et al., 2008), which may derive from impairment to miRNA regulation required for the angiogenesis, maintenance, and functioning of the CL (Yang et al., 2005; Otsuka et al., 2008). Moreover, depletion of *Dicer1* causes disintegration of the structural, mechanical, and functional ability of the fallopian tube including loss of the smooth muscle layer, disorganized epithelium, and deregulation of signalling networks (Luense, Carletti & Christenson, 2009): this might also cause failures in the transportation and implantation of embryos to the uterus (Luense, Carletti, & Christenson, 2009), and the resulting offspring may have impaired reproductive organs because of maternal loss of oviductal Dicer1 (Hong et al., 2008). Fallopian tube-specific loss of *Dicer1* results in shorter tubule length, abnormal coil formation and the presence of fluid-filled sacs (Hong et al., 2008; Gonzalez & Behringer, 2009). Taken together, the observations suggest that *Dicer1* in the female safeguards molecular and signalling networks related to gametogenesis, steroidogenesis, the genomic and structural architecture of the oocytes as well as the development and implantation of embryos.

### III. miRNAs ARE INVOLVED IN SEX-SPECIFICATION AND COMMITMENT OF MAMMALIAN GONADS

Prior to sex determination PGCs carry a unique miRNA profile (Hayashi et al., 2008) that does not match sex-specific PGCs (Fig. 2), and PGCs undergoing sex determination display dimorphic expression patterns of miRNAs (see online Supporting information, Table S1). For example, the let-7 family, miR-125a, and miR-9 are overexpressed in PGCs for male germline commitment (Hayashi et al., 2008). By contrast, female germline-committing PGCs show overexpression of miR-29b, which targets DNA methyltransferase 3 alpha (Dnmt3a) and DNA methyltransferase 3 beta (Dnmt3b), and epigenetically regulates gene expression during oogenesis in mice (Takada et al., 2009). Embryonic loss of miRNAs resulting from *Dicer1* deletion is associated with embryonic lethality in mice near the time of PGC specification (Bernstein et al., 2003). Dicer1 depletion just before PGC migration impaired the proliferation and gonad-specific colonization of PGCs in mice (Hayashi et al., 2008), and oocytes originating from Dicer1-ablated mouse germline cells failed to establish functional zygotes and commence first zygotic cell division (Tang et al., 2007). These findings indicate that sex differentiation and embryonic development require parentally derived miRNAs.

*B-lymphocyte-induced maturation protein 1 (Blimp1)* regulates PGC specification by repressing *Hox* genes (Ohinata *et al.*, 2005; Vincent *et al.*, 2005; Robertson *et al.*, 2007) and is predominantly targeted by let-7 (West *et al.*, 2009). It is thought that suppression of *Blimp1* by let-7 upregulates *Hox* genes, leading totipotent PGCs towards male germline specification. Migration of PGCs to the female gonad is mediated by the miR-17-92 and miR-290-295 cluster, and the loss of this cluster disrupts PGC colonization in the female gonad, resulting in premature ovarian failure (POF) and sterility (Hayashi *et al.*, 2008; Medeiros *et al.*, 2011). The impact of PGC loss is much more severe in females than in males as female germline stem cells cannot propagate and self-renew during adulthood, while spermatogonial stem cells (SSCs) successfully propagate and self-renew throughout the lifetime, thus the loss of these miRNAs results in infertility in females but only subfertility in males.

miR-22 suppresses oestrogen receptor 1 (ESR1)-mediated oestrogen signalling in ovine foetal testes, which is necessary for male gonad establishment (Torley et al., 2011). Expression of miR-202-5p, miR-202-3p, miR-140-3p, and miR-140-5p is upregulated in committing testes and may mediate testis development as well as Leydig cell formation (Eggers, Ohnesorg, & Sinclair, 2014). By contrast, SRY-box 9 (Sox9) suppression is required for female gonad commencement (Eggers et al., 2014); in its absence, sex reversal can occur (Eggers et al., 2014). Thus, Sox9 regulatory miR-124 plays a key role in female gonad establishment (Eggers et al., 2014). let-7, miR-23b, and miR-21 regulate male PGC differentiation by mediating Lin-28 homolog A (Lin28)/let-7/Blimp1 signalling (Brieno-Enriquez et al., 2015). In mice, the abundance of miR-485 and miR-878-5p changes in a time-dependent manner in the ovary and testes and may be crucial for sex specification (Rakoczy et al., 2013). Similarly unique and differential expression of miRNAs is reported in the testes (Watanabe et al., 2006; Luo et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2013a; Luo et al., 2015b) and ovaries (Choi et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2007; Ahn et al., 2010; Nothnick, 2012; Xiao et al., 2014; Li et al., 2015) as well as other reproductive organs and tissues including testicular somatic cells (Rakoczy et al., 2013), epididymis (Belleannee et al., 2012; Chu et al., 2015; Nixon et al., 2015a, 2015b), fallopian tube (Nothnick, 2012), uterus (Nothnick, 2012) and cervix (Nothnick, 2012) of different mammalian species. Several miRNAs (such as let-7, miR-503, miR-672, miR-465, miR-21-5p and miR-143-3p) could play a housekeeping role (Ahn et al., 2010; Li et al., 2015) and the miR-34 family can be considered as a fertility biomarker (Tscherner et al., 2014) in both sexes. Clearly, imbalances in miRNA regulation at any stage can disrupt the whole process of gonad specification and sex commitment and may cause sexual disorders as well as sex reversal of embryos.

#### IV. ROLES OF miRNAs IN MALE REPRODUCTION

A range of miRNAs are male germ cell stage-specific and are predominantly detected in male reproductive tissues (Fig. 2), with impaired miRNA expression causing reduced testes size, degenerated seminiferous tubules, impaired spermatogenesis, increased germ cell apoptosis, and the production of abnormal spermatozoa (fragmented acrosomes, impaired chromatin compaction, deformed sperm head, folded tail, immotile sperm), and a decrease in the number of mature spermatozoa, leading to infertility (Table S2).



**Fig. 2.** MicroRNA (miRNA) regulation at different stages of sex specification and gametogenesis. The miRNAs that are listed for different stages of oogenesis, spermatogenesis and early embryonic development are the predominantly expressed miRNAs of these stages. miRNAs are involved in every stage of early embryonic development and gametogenesis, except the period between the mature oocyte and first zygotic cell division, where the functions of miRNAs are abrogated (reported in mouse, but yet to be verified in other mammals), and then re-established between two- and four-cell stage pluripotent embryos. Loss of Dicer during the sex-undifferentiated stage typically causes embryonic death, while primordial germ cell (PGC)-specific loss causes the impairment and failure of migration, colonization, and commitment of sex-specific gonads. miRNAs are highly expressed during gametogenesis, and some miRNAs have sex- and purpose-specific roles; for example, miR-124 plays an important role in female gonad commitment by suppressing *Sox-9* expression, and the loss of miR-124 before sex commitment can cause sex reversal in females. Other miRNAs are equally important in nearly all stages; for example, miR-21 is important in all stages of gametogenesis and is responsible for the viability and survival of cells. The expression of miR-21 during pregnancy indicates the presence of activated and live embryo (s). CL, corpus luteum; TE, trophectoderm; KO, knockout; GV, germinal vesicle; GC, granulosa cell; DF, dominant follicle; MSCI, meiotic sex chromosome inactivation.

### (1) The formation of male gonads

Most miRNAs that are highly expressed in male PGCs are also detected in spermatogonia cells. Validated targets of these miRNAs are involved in *mitogen-activated protein kinase* (MAPK), janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription proteins (STAT), and transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ) signalling pathways (Wu *et al.*, 2014; Garcia-Lopez *et al.*, 2015). A panel of miRNAs was detected in human and mouse testes (Watanabe *et al.*, 2006). Among these miRNAs, miR-449a is abundant in both mouse and human testes (Luo *et al.*, 2015b). In boar testes, a subset of miRNAs are expressed differentially between mature and immature testes (Luo *et al.*, 2010) and regulates stage-specific testicular gene expression. For example, miR-34b and miR-34c regulate the differential expression of AQN-1 protein (AQN-1), hyaluronan synthase 3 (HAS3), ring finger protein 4 (RNF4), sperm mitochondria-associated cysteine-rich protein (SMCP), and sperm adhesion molecule 1 (SPAM1) between mature and immature porcine testes (Luo *et al.*, 2010), indicating that these miRNAs play important roles in species- and stage-specific male germ cell development. Similarly, the testicular somatic cells of fertile and infertile males express miRNAs differentially, for example miR-202-5p, a member of the let-7 family.

is selectively expressed in Sertoli cells of fertile males with normal germ cells, but not in the Sertoli cells of infertile males (Dabaja *et al.*, 2015). Previous studies also showed that miR-202-5p, which is a downstream mediator of the testis-determining factor SOX9 (Wainwright *et al.*, 2013), is expressed in Sertoli cells in the early XY gonad (Rakoczy *et al.*, 2013) and its expression is up-regulated again in the testis at later developmental stages (Ro *et al.*, 2007). These data indicate that miR-202-5p is closely associated with male gonad development.

## (2) The commitment and maintenance of SSCs

Differential expression of miRNAs is observed at different stages of development and maturation of male germline cells (Fig. 2) (Hayashi et al., 2008). A group of these miRNAs regulating phosphatase and tensin homolog (Pten) and Stat signalling is predominantly downregulated in spermatogonia compared to PGCs, and thus enhances the expression of Pten and Stat levels in spermatogonia compared to PGCs (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2015). Likewise, members of the miR-290-295 cluster are pluripotency related, and are downregulated in spermatogonia compared to PGCs and gonocytes (Zheng et al., 2011; McIver et al., 2012b), the proliferation- and differentiation-regulatory miR-143-3p is upregulated in mice spermatogonia compared to in PGCs (Garcia-Lopez et al., 2015), and miR-293 is expressed differentially between gonocytes and spermatogonia (McIver et al., 2012b). This indicates that these miRNAs may specifically participate in the commitment of PGCs to SSCs. Among the miRNAs involved in SSC maintenance. miR-21 regulates the stemness, proliferation, and survival of SSCs by regulating ETS variant 5 (ETV5)/glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) signalling (Niu et al., 2011). GDNF is a well-defined paracrine factor that promotes SSCs self-renewal (Yang & Oatley, 2014), and is closely connected to the ret proto-oncogene (RET) that is required for GDNF family receptor alpha 1 (GFR $\alpha$  1) signalling in mouse SSCs (Jing et al., 1996; Naughton et al., 2006). With the assistance of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT serine/threonine kinase (AKT)-dependent pathway or sarcoma (Src) family kinase pathway, GDNF regulates the expression of ETV5, inhibitor of DNA binding 4 (ID4), LIM homeobox 1 (LHX1), and POU class 3 homeobox 1 (POU3F1) to drive SSC self-renewal (Lee et al., 2007; Oatley, Avarbock, & Brinster, 2007). Thus, miR-21 appears to have a very important role in PGCs self-renewal and maintenance.

Similarly, miR-221/222 promotes the stemness characteristics of SSCs by downregulating *KIT proto-oncogene receptor tyrosine kinase* (*c-Kit*) expression in mice (Yang *et al.*, 2013*b*), and both miR-20 and miR-106a directly target *signal transducer and activator of transcription 3* (*Stat3*) and *cyclin D1* (*Ccnd*1), and play critical roles in maintenance and renewal of SSCs by increasing *proliferating cell nuclear antigen* (*Pcna*) and *promyelocytic leukaemia zinc finger* (*Plzf*), and reducing *c-Kit* expression in mice (He *et al.*, 2013). miR-290 and miR-302 are also involved in the maintenance and pluripotency of SSCs in mice (Zovoilis *et al.*, 2008). It is well known that miR-135a and miR-544 are essential factors for the regulation of self-renewal of SSCs in rat and goat, respectively (Moritoki et al., 2014; Song et al., 2015). In addition, miR-184 and miR-204 are involved in mouse and goat SSC proliferation (Wu et al., 2011), and protocadherins, which are also important cell-adhesion molecules, are also targeted by miR-320 during germ cell biogenesis (Marcon et al., 2008). Differential expression of numerous miRNAs occurs between early and late stages of mammalian spermatogonia; these miRNAs are involved in either the maintenance or differentiation of SSCs (Niu et al., 2011; Tong et al., 2011, 2012; He et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2013b). Thus, growing evidence strongly suggests that many miRNAs are closely linked to the post-transcriptional regulation of SSCs self-renewal and maintenance.

## (3) The differentiation of male SSCs to spermatocytes

A global shift in testicular miRNA expression is observed during the very early stages of spermatogenesis and differentiation of spermatogonia (Golestaneh et al., 2009). For example, miR-146 downregulates mediator complex subunit 1 (Med1), c-Kit, and spermatogenesis and oogenesis specific basic helix-loop-helix 2 (Sohlh2), and mediates the differentiation of SSCs (Huszar & Payne, 2013). c-Kit is required for the differentiation of SSCs and is a target of miR-221 and miR-222 (Yang et al., 2013b). Thus, suppression of miR-221 and miR-222 may promote the differentiation of SSCs. Also, miR-34c promotes SSC differentiation in mice by suppressing nanos C2HC-type zinc finger 2 (Nanos2) and simultaneously upregulating stimulated by retinoic acid 8 (Stra8) and synaptonemal complex protein 3 (Scp3) (Yu et al., 2014). In addition, members of the miR-34 family regulate notch 1 (NOTCH1), notch 2 (NOTCH2), TGFB-induced factor homeobox 2 (TGIF2), cyclin dependent kinase 4 (CDK4), and MYC proto-oncogene, BHLH transcription factor (c-MYC) (Yan et al., 2009; Bouhallier et al., 2010), and miR-449 regulates NOTCH1 and B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2) (Yan et al., 2009); the genes together regulate the survival and differentiation of SSCs through Notch and  $Tgf\beta$  signalling in mammals (Damestoy et al., 2005; Kostereva & Hofmann, 2008; Yan et al., 2009). High mobility group AT-hook 2 (Hmga2) and outer dense fiber of sperm tails 1 (ODF1) are involved in the structural organization and differentiation of germ cells in mice and human, respectively (Chieffi et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2007), and are targeted by the let-7 family and miR-22, respectively (Curry, Safranski, & Pratt, 2011). The let-7 family also targets insulin like growth factor 1 (Igf1) and may control spermatogonial differentiation in mice through extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (Erk1/2) and PI3K signalling (Shen et al., 2014). miR-383 regulates mitotic division in spermatogonia and primary spermatocytes by targeting *interferon regulatory factor 1* (IRF1), and subsequently downregulating CCND1, cyclin dependent kinase 2 (CDK2), and cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 1A (p21) (Lian et al., 2010; Luo, Hou, & Yang, 2016). Additionally, miR-294 and miR-295 are specific to SSCs, while miR-201 and miR-547 are specific to

premeiotic male germ cells (Smorag *et al.*, 2012). This indicates that these miRNAs regulate differentiation of SSCs by controlling mainly *NOTCH*, *Erk1/2* and *Pl3K* signalling.

Transition of B-spermatogonia to spermatocytes accompanies major alterations in miRNA profiles (Liu et al., 2015), and the deregulated miRNAs regulate the differential expression of E2F transcription factor 1 (E2F1), ETS variant 1 (ETV1), TNF alpha-induced protein 8 like 2 (TNFAIP812), target of Myb1 membrane trafficking protein (TOM1), transforming growth factor beta receptor 1 (TGFBR1), and bone morphogenetic protein receptor type 2 (BMPR2) between spermatogonia and spermatocytes (Liu et al., 2015), potentially regulating apoptosis, proliferation, differentiation, junctional assembly, and cell cycle during spermatogenesis (Luo et al., 2015a). For example, methyl-CpG binding domain protein 6 (MBD6) and H2A histone family member X (H2AX) are important for meiotic division during spermatogenesis and are putative targets of miR-24 (McIver et al., 2012a). c-Kit, RNA binding motif protein 44 (Rbm44), and cyclin dependent kinase 6 (Cdk6) play roles in SSC maintenance and meiotic differentiation in mice and are regulated by miR-221, miR-203, and miR-34b-5p, respectively (Smorag et al., 2012). In the early stages of male germ cell specification in mice, cyclin T2 (Cent2) is regulated by miR-15a, which is expressed stage specifically and time dependently during spermatogenesis (Teng et al., 2011). miR-15b targets GDP dissociation inhibitor 1 (GDII) and isocitrate dehydrogenase 3 (NAD (+)) alpha (IDH3A), and regulates TCA-cycle mediated energy metabolism (Curry et al., 2011). Heat shock transcription factor 2 (Hsf2), an important molecule required for mammalian spermatogenesis, is regulated by miR-18 during spermatogenesis in mice (Bjork et al., 2010). miR-18, which belongs to the miR-17-92 cluster, is abundantly expressed in spermatocytes. Finally, miR-34b-5p regulates meiotic progression by targeting Cdk6 (Smorag et al., 2012). Taken together, miRNAs are important regulators of cell cycle progression and differentiation during the transition of B-spermatogonia to spermatocytes.

#### (4) Meiotic sex chromosome inactivation (MSCI) and chromosomal stability during spermatogenesis

MSCI refers to the transcriptional silencing of genes located on the X-chromosome at the pachytene spermatocyte stage. While most X-chromosomal genes are silenced, X-chromosome linked miRNAs including miR-718-3p, miR-883a-3p, and miR-883a-5p can escape MSCI-mediated silencing in mice (Song et al., 2009). This exceptional event allows these miRNAs to remain active throughout spermatogenesis and play a crucial role in the differentiation of SSCs (Song et al., 2009). miRNAs are fine-tuners of many important genes, and thus their absence can cause overexpression of X-linked genes that are normally silenced by MSCI (Greenlee et al., 2012), ultimately leading to the impairment of meiotic progress, acrosomal defects, abnormal chromatin condensation and nuclear shaping, degenerated seminiferous tubules, mixing of different stages of haploid spermatogonia, and the presence of exfoliated and immature germ cells in the epididymis (Korhonen et al.,

2011), followed by infertility in males (Greenlee et al., 2012). Although miRNAs such as miR-871-3p, miR-743-3p, and miR-883b-3p may regulate MSCI-mediated gene expression (Song et al., 2009), but there is not yet direct evidence for this. miRNAs are also important for maintaining chromosomal stability; the loss of several miRNAs such as miR-16, miR-18, miR-183, and miR-762 caused abundant activation of ATM serine / threenine kinase (ATM) and deregulation of genes including mediator of DNA damage checkpoint 1 (Mdc1), Cdk2, trimethylation of lysine 9 on histone H3 (H3K9me3), and ring finger protein 8 (Rnf8), which are involved in chromosomal stability and DNA repair during spermatogenesis in mice (Modzelewski et al., 2015). miR-762 downregulates DNA damage-related gene H2A histone family member X ( $\gamma$ -H2AX) and upregulates the DNA damage repair-related genes RNF8, ring finger protein 168 (RNF168), DNA repair associated (BRCA1), tumor protein P53 binding protein 1 (TP53BP1), and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (PARP), as well as promoting the growth of immature Sertoli cells in pigs (Ma et al., 2016a), indicating that both miRNA-mediated gene regulation and fine-tuning of gene expression are critical factors for MSCI and chromosomal stability during spermatogenesis.

#### (5) miRNAs as regulators of spermiogenesis and chromatin body compaction

A wide range of miRNAs are expressed differentially during the transition of pachytene spermatocytes to round spermatids and might be important in the spermiogenesis process. For example, round spermatid basic protein 1 (Rsbn1) is an important molecule for the transcriptional regulation of haploid germ cell formation and is a target gene of miR-355, miR-181b, and miR-181c (Yan et al., 2007; McIver et al., 2012a). In addition, miR-122 downregulates transition protein 2 (Tnp2) (Yu, Raabe, & Hecht, 2005), which replaces protamine, an essential component for the compaction and patterning of chromatin bodies into small sperm heads (Krawetz et al., 2011); testis-specific miR-469 also plays an important role in chromatin remodelling and elongation of spermatids by repressing Tnp2 and protamine 2 (Prm2) (de Mateo & Sassone-Corsi, 2014). Similarly, loss of miRNA-dependent regulation of Arpc5 impairs translational activation of protamine 1 (Prm1)/Prm2 by blocking 80S ribosome formation and facilitating mRNA transportation to chromatoid/P bodies in mice (Chang et al., 2012). miRNA-dependent regulation of tudor domain containing 6 (Tdrd6) during spermiogenesis of mice is essential for chromatin body formation (Vasileva et al., 2009). However, unlike the early stages of spermatogenesis, most of these miRNAs disappear during spermiogenesis, leaving a few sperm-borne miRNAs such as *miR-34 to regulate* fertilization and early zygote development (Liu et al., 2012). Therefore, some of the sperm-borne miRNAs are important epigenetic contributors to the embryo. However, the roles of miRNAs in chromatin compaction require further investigation to determine whether the impairments caused by deregulated miRNAs are permanent or recoverable.

### (6) miRNAs regulate maturation and viability of spermatozoa during storage and transportation through the epididymis

Epididymal spermatozoa are enriched with distinctive miR-NAs (Fig. 2), which are uncommon in other spermatozoal stages (Nixon et al., 2015b; Reilly et al., 2016). Additionally, epididymal epithelial cell-derived miRNAs may influence the post-testicular progression of sperm to their destination and mediate cell-to-cell communication (Belleannee et al., 2013a; Belleannee, 2015; Qing et al., 2017); vasectomy results in alteration of miRNAs in both epididymal and seminal microvesicles (Belleannee et al., 2013b). Differential expression of miRNAs is also found between epididymal and freshly ejaculated sperm, as well as among the segments (caput, corpus, cauda) of the epididymis in different species including human (Belleannee et al., 2012), horse (Twenter et al., 2017), mouse (Nixon et al., 2015a,b), pig (Chang et al., 2016) and bull (Belleannee et al., 2013a). These miRNAs might be involved in spermatozoa maturation (Twenter et al., 2017), intracellular trafficking signalling (Nixon et al., 2015a), death signalling (Chu et al., 2015), and epididymal cell proliferation (Ma et al., 2012). The differential expression of miRNAs among the epididymal segments is common to various mammalian species, thus it could be assumed that the contribution of epididymal miRNAs is an essential part of mammalian sperm maturation and concentration, and that these epididymal miRNAs potentially contribute to the motility of spermatozoa as well as to the content of the seminal fluid.

# (7) miRNAs are potent regulators of male germline cell apoptosis in mammals

Apoptosis in spermatocytes is a common event as meiotic cells have to undergo homologous recombination through double-strand breaks (Hamer et al., 2003). Several miRNAs such as the miR-449 cluster and miR-34b/c, regulate male germ cells by targeting the E2F-retinoblastoma protein (pRb) pathway in the early meiotic phase (Bao et al., 2012). In male sheep with disrupted spermatogenesis, the expression of miR-144 (homolog miR-98) was upregulated; miR-144 regulates the apoptosis-related genes fas ligand (FASL), caspase 3 (CAS3), tumor protein 53 (TP53), and BCL2-like 1 (BCL2L1) (Guan et al., 2015). Furthermore, miR-26a induces G1 arrest by regulating cyclin E1 (CCNE1), cyclin E2 (CCNE2), cyclin D2 (CCND2), and CDK6 (Kota et al., 2009) and then induces apoptosis in parallel with the direct effects of miRNA-144. Similarly, changes in the expression of miRNA-99a seem to affect the organization of Sertoli-cell tight junctions by targeting zona occludens 1 (ZO-1) (Turcatel et al., 2012), whereas miR-34c enhances germinal phenotypes in late spermatogenesis (Bouhallier et al., 2010).

In oestradiol benzoate-treated rats, the miR-29 family resulted in extensive apoptosis of male germ cells by downregulating *Dnmt* and *myeloid cell leukemia 1 (Mcl-1)* (Meunier *et al.*, 2012). Ochratoxin-A treatment induces extensive apoptosis of male germ cells, while inhibition

of miR-122 minimizes this Ochratoxin-A-mediated toxicity (Chen *et al.*, 2015*a*), indicating that miR-122 is a critical regulator for the germ cell apoptosis-induction pathway. In pigs, expression of miR-16 and miR-34 regulates the cell cycle progression during spermatogenesis and senescence of sperm (Luo *et al.*, 2015*b*). miR-16 promotes the apoptosis of immortalized GC-1 spermatogonia cells (GC-1 SPG) by downregulating *Ccnd1* (Li *et al.*, 2016*b*). Deletion of the miR-17-92 cluster, which is potentially regulated by transcriptional regulation of *c-MTC* and *E2F1* (Novotny *et al.*, 2007), results in testicular atrophy and empty seminiferous tubules by reducing SSCs and increasing germ cell apoptosis (Xie *et al.*, 2016). Taken together, these observations suggest that deregulation in miRNA expression is an important mechanism behind mammalian male germline cell apoptosis.

## V. ROLES OF miRNAs IN FEMALE REPRODUCTION

Sex-specific and unique miRNA profiles are observed at every step of female reproduction (Fig. 2): female-specific miR-124 promotes the commitment of female gonads and prevents sex reversal by silencing *Sox9* in the mouse ovary. Similarly, many miRNAs play substantial roles throughout folliculogenesis and oogenesis by regulating expression of important genes (see Table S3), and many are specific to particular developmental stages of the follicles, as well as segments of the reproductive tract.

## (1) Growth and maturation of ovarian follicles

Folliculogenesis refers to the progression of small primordial follicles into large preovulatory follicles that occurs in part during the oestrus cycle. During folliculogenesis, the majority of follicles commit to atresia, and a few develop into Graafian follicles. miR-145 regulates initiation of the growth, development, and maintenance of mouse primordial follicles (Fig. 2) by regulating  $Tgf\beta$  signalling including transforming growth factor beta receptor 2 (Tgfbr2), activin A receptor type 1B (Acvr1b), SMAD family member 3 (Smad3), and SMAD family member 5 (Smad5) (Yang et al., 2013c), while loss of miR-145 over-activates primordial follicles and deregulates zona pellucida in growing follicles (Yang et al., 2013c). Similarly, miR-224 enhances folliculogenesis in mice by targeting SMAD family member 4 (Smad4) and regulating transforming growth factor beta 1 ( $Tgf\beta 1$ )-induced proliferation of granulosa cells (GCs) (Yao et al., 2010a), and miR-133b regulates the development of ovaries and maturation of oocytes by targeting transgelin 2 (TAGLN2), an actin protein-encoding gene (Xiao et al., 2014). In porcine oocytes, miR-205 participates in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)-induced maturation by targeting *pentraxin 3 (PTX3)* (Li et al., 2016a) and miR-29 has a role during the development of bovine follicles (Hossain et al., 2009).

Numerous miRNAs play a role in growing follicles (Fig. 2) (Lei *et al.*, 2010; Yao *et al.*, 2010*a*; Xu *et al.*, 2011*b*; Sen *et al.*,

2014), selection of dominant follicles (Salilew-Wondim et al., 2014), formation of germinal vesicle (GV) oocytes (Murchison et al., 2007; Tripurani et al., 2010), maturation of oocytes (Tesfaye et al., 2009; Abd El Naby et al., 2013; Xiao et al., 2014; Song et al., 2016; Li et al., 2016a), ovulatory follicles (Carletti, Fiedler, & Christenson, 2010; Sontakke et al., 2014; Wright et al., 2016), the ovulation process (Fiedler et al., 2008; Hasuwa et al., 2013; Ahmed et al., 2017), and development of metaphase II (M-II) oocytes (Xu et al., 2011b; Wright et al., 2016). Among these miRNAs, miR-202 is gonad-specific and might be important in the prevention of premature ovarian failure (POF) (Sontakke et al., 2014), and miR-27b and its target, peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma ( $PPAR\gamma$ ), is crucial for the maturation of porcine oocytes (Song *et al.*, 2016). In humans, miR-15a potentially regulates the growth and maturation of oocytes by regulating BCL2 and cell division cycle 25A (CDC25A) (Xu et al., 2011b), while miR-335-5p regulates spindle formation and cytoskeleton dynamics via MAPK signalling in mouse oocytes (Cui et al., 2013). These data indicate that each stage of folliculogenesis has a unique profile of miRNA expression and that miRNAs are involved in the selection, growth, development, and maturation of ovarian follicles.

#### (2) miRNA expressions varies in the granulosa cells (GCs) and thecal cells (TCs) of the dominant follicles (DFs) and subordinate follicles (SFs)

DFs and SFs show differential expression of some miRNAs, which may regulate gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) signalling (Salilew-Wondim et al., 2014). These miRNAs are expressed differentially among different subgroups of GCs (Tesfaye et al., 2009), TCs (Zielak-Steciwko et al., 2014), and between mural and cumulus cells (Velthut-Meikas et al., 2013). These miRNAs are also potential regulators of numerous signalling pathways including meiosis, wingless-type MMTV integration site family (WNT), TGFB, ErbB receptor tyrosine kinases (ERBB), insulin, P13K-AKT, and MAPK (Zielak-Steciwko et al., 2014). Another panel of miRNAs including miR-125b, miR-145, and miR-199a-3p target leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 1A (CDKN1A), and prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2), respectively, in GCs, but not in TCs of bovine follicles (Donadeu et al., 2012). Furthermore, a panel of miRNAs is highly expressed in atretic follicles compared to healthy follicles, with all miRNAs except miR-21-3p and miR-378 showing higher expression in TCs compared to GCs (Donadeu, Mohammed, & Ioannidis, 2017). This suggests that these miRNAs might regulate the phenotypic characters of different cell types by controlling the expression of important signalling molecules (Donadeu et al., 2017). Additionally, miR-708, miR-221, miR-21-3p, miR-335, and miR-214 are expressed abundantly in the follicular fluid of SFs compared to that of DFs (Gebremedhn et al., 2015) indicating a potential role in the selection of follicles. Hence, differential expression of miRNAs between TCs and GCs may play an important role in the selection and recruitment of DFs, as well as during the follicular wave (in

different mammalian species the recruitment, growth and development of several waves of follicles is possible before follicle rupture and ovulation occur; during this process two or more follicles might develop, but only one follicle successfully releases the egg) and atresia.

#### (3) Atresia and degeneration of ovarian follicles

miRNAs are potent regulators of follicular atresia and degeneration (Fig. 2) (Lin et al., 2012; Cao et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2015b). In brief, the apoptosis of human GCs is regulated by miR-146a, which directly targets interleukin 1 receptor associated kinase 1 (IRAK1) and TNF receptor associated factor 6 (TRAF6), and indirectly regulates nuclear factor kappa B  $(NF\kappa B)$ , phospho-inhibitory subunit of NF kappa B alpha  $(pI\kappa B\alpha)$ , caspase 8 (CAS8), caspase 9 (CAS9), CAS3, and PARP (Chen et al., 2015b). Follicular atresia in pigs is regulated by members of the let-7 family, which regulate MAPK, TGF $\beta$ , and p53signalling pathways; all other members are downregulated in atretic and progressively atretic follicles except let-7 g (Cao et al., 2015). In addition, miR-26b targets ATM and enhances GC apoptosis during follicular atresia in pigs (Lin et al., 2012). miR-181a, which is highly expressed in primary follicles over preantral and antral follicles and leads to POF (Zhang et al., 2013b) inhibits the production of GCs and follicular development in mice by suppressing Acvr2a and decreasing phosphorylation of *Activin*-signalling. Similarly, miR-143 inhibits the proliferation of pregranulosa cells in mice by regulating Cdks, Ccnb1, Ccnd2, and Ccne2, and thus inhibits the formation of primordial follicles (Zhang et al., 2013a). In cattle, miR-21-5p, miR-21-3p, miR-222, miR-155, and miR-199a-5p are upregulated in atretic follicles compared to healthy follicles (Donadeu et al., 2017). Another two miRNAs, miR-378 and miR-21-5p, were increased in subordinate and anovulatory follicles in horses (Donadeu & Schauer, 2013; Schauer et al., 2013). Of note, miR-21 prevents follicular atresia and regulates follicle survival, follicular to luteal transition, and ovulation (Carletti et al., 2010). Androgen-induced miR-125b suppresses the pro-apoptotic genes BCL2 antagonist/killer 1 (Bak), BCL2 associated X protein (Bax), Bcl2 modifying factor (Bmf), and TP53 in mouse GCs and promotes follicular survival by preventing atresia (Sen et al., 2014). miR-376a reduces oocyte apoptosis, increases primordial follicle number, and regulates follicular assembly by modulating Pcna in mice (Zhang et al., 2014). Therefore, miRNAs appear to have a very important regulatory role during apoptosis of GCs and follicular atresia.

# (4) Regulation of luteinization and formation of the CL

The importance of miRNA signalling for regulation of the CL has been demonstrated using hypomorphic *Dicer1* mutant mice, which fail to implant embryos and maintain pregnancy due to impaired growth of new capillary vessels in the CL (Otsuka *et al.*, 2008). The study demonstrated that the impaired CL angiogenesis in *Dicer1* (d/d) mice was associated with a lack of miR-17-5p and let-7b, which target tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 (Timp1). These data suggest that the pro-angiogenic miR-17-5p and let-7b are critical factors for the normal development of the CL. miRNAs are known to be involved in the process of CL formation (Fig. 2) such as during follicular to luteal transition (McBride et al., 2012), vascularization of luteal tissue (Otsuka et al., 2008), and in non-regressed CL (Ma et al., 2011), and regressed CL (Ma et al., 2011). In particular, reduction of miR-503 expression in pre-ovulatory follicles, signals the onset of luteinization, with its expression subsequently restored during CL development (Lei et al., 2010; McBride et al., 2012). miR-503 directly regulates Gdf9, follicle stimulating hormone Receptor (Fshr), oestrogen receptor 2 (Esr2), activin A receptor type 2A (ActRIIa), Cond2, and activin A receptor type 2B (ActRIIb) and indirectly regulates inhibin alpha subunit (Inha), Inhba, Inhbb, Cyp19a1, luteinizing hormone/choriogonadotropin receptor (Lhcgr), Esr2, androgen receptor (Ar), Cdkn1b, and Cas3 (Lei et al., 2010). Thus, miR-503 could have a direct involvement in CL formation and maintenance. Another study showed that miR-378 plays an anti-apoptotic role in luteal cells of non-regressed CL by targeting interferon gamma receptor 1 (IFNGR1) (Ma et al., 2011). These observations provide evidence to explain the physiological requirement for miRNAs during luteal development.

## (5) The prediction of oocyte quality

miRNAs are expressed abundantly in follicular fluid, cumulus cells, and oocytes. Therefore, it may be possible to use miRNAs to evaluate the quality of oocytes. Uhde et al. (2017) attempted to assess the quality of bovine oocytes based on the miRNA expression of the surrounding cumulus cells although they concluded that the quality of pre-fertilization-stage oocytes could not be determined in this way. As highlighted in Fig. 2, the functions of miRNAs are globally suppressed between matured oocytes and first zygotic cell division stages (Suh et al., 2010). As a result, the functional activity of miRNAs are generally abrogated (although the expression of miRNAs remains abundant) during those stages (Tang et al., 2007; Suh et al., 2010) representing an obstacle to the use of miRNAs as biomarkers to assess the quality of pre-fertilization-stage oocytes. However, the roles of maternal miRNAs (oocyte-derived miRNAs) are indispensable during the post-fertilization stages (Tang et al., 2007; Karakaya et al., 2015), especially during and after zygotic genome activation. It may be that the roles of oocyte-derived miRNAs will be understood only by monitoring the post-fertilization development potential of oocytes.

## (6) miRNAs and extracellular vesicles within follicular fluid

Extracellular vesicles including exosomes are tiny particles of biological origin, contain RNAs, proteins, lipids and other small molecules, and are transported by the circulatory system to neighbouring or distant organs (da Silveira *et al.*, 2012; Reza *et al.*, 2016). These particles function as a cargo transport system and participate in cell–cell communication, embryo–maternal crosstalk (Saadeldin, Oh, & Lee, 2015) and communication among ovarian follicles (da Silveira et al., 2012). Vesicular miRNAs derived from follicular fluid are being investigated for their suitability as biomarkers for oocyte quality in matured and immature oocytes (Sohel et al., 2013; Santonocito et al., 2014; da Silveira et al., 2015), as well as in healthy and unhealthy follicles (Sang et al., 2013; Roth et al., 2014). For example, matured follicle-derived microvesicles are enriched with a panel of miRNAs including miR-99a, miR-100, miR-132 and miR-218 (Santonocito et al., 2014), among which miR-132, miR-212 and miR-214 negatively regulate the factors related to the inhibition of follicular maturation while miR-29a is involved in epigenetic changes (Santonocito et al., 2014). In addition, follicular-fluid-derived circulatory miRNAs are potentially involved in steroidogenesis processes (Sang et al., 2013), for example, miR-132, miR-320, miR-520c-3p, miR-24 and miR-222 regulate the concentration of oestradiol, while miR-24, miR-193b and miR-483-5p regulate the concentration of progesterone (Sang et al., 2013). These data indicate that follicular-fluid-derived extracellular miRNAs could be an important tool to assess oocvte quality and to differentiate between healthy and unhealthy follicles.

#### VI. miRNAs ARE POTENT REGULATORS OF THE STEROIDOGENIC PROCESS DURING GAMETOGENESIS

miRNAs are potent regulators of testicular, ovarian, hypothalamic and pituitary hormones (Figs 3 and 4) (Messina & Prevot, 2017), and regulate the expression and functions of numerous steroidogenic genes (see Table S4). Thus miRNAs act as an essential mediator to maintain interactions among the hypothalamus, pituitary, and gonad.

#### (1) Hormonal balance and steroidogenesis in males

miRNAs and hormones together with genes develop an effective feedback loop to coordinate successful spermatogenesis (Fig. 3). The genes in the hypothalamus that regulate GnRH release and pituitary functions including zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1 (Zeb1), POU class 2 homeobox (Pou2f), meis homeobox 1 (Meis1), golgi glycoprotein 1 (Glg1), bone morphogenetic protein 4 (Bmp4) and prostaglandin F2 receptor inhibitor (Ptgfm), are effectively controlled by a panel of miRNAs including miR-155, miR-200, miR-429 and miR-7a2 (Hasuwa et al., 2013; Ahmed et al., 2017; Messina & Prevot, 2017). Therefore, these miRNAs might have direct or indirect control over the hormones released by the pituitary. Following downstream signalling from the pituitary gland, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH) and androgens become functional or inactivated, and this could stimulate the expression of different miRNAs in the testes (Panneerdoss et al., 2012; Ma et al., 2016a), leading to miRNA-mediated regulation of growth, proliferation, maintenance and apoptosis of testicular cells (Nicholls et al., 2011; Panneerdoss et al., 2012; Shih et al., 2015; Yao et al.,



**Fig. 3.** MicroRNA (miRNA) regulation in the maintenance of male hormonal balance. A panel of miRNAs regulates *Pou2f1*-and *Meis1*-mediated gonadotropin-releasing hormone signalling by targeting *Zeb1*, and thus these miRNAs may play important roles in the maintenance of hormonal balance. The expression of miRNAs changes with levels of different reproductive hormones; additionally, hormonal balance is reported to be miRNA-dependent, as miRNAs regulate the proliferation, differentiation, function, and apoptosis of male steroidogenic cells. Thus, miRNAs, genes, and hormones develop a feedback loop that optimizes spermatogenesis; any imbalance in the feedback loop can result in azoospermia, oligospermia, infertility, and reproductive failure in males. FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LH, luteneizing hormone; PL, prolactin; GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; EPS15, epidermal growth factor receptor pathway substrate 15; AR, androgen receptor; Cebpb, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta; Zeb1, zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1; Glg1, golgi glycoprotein 1; BMP4, bone morphogenetic protein 4; Ptgfrn, prostaglandin F2 receptor inhibitor; Pou2f1, POU class 2 homeobox 1; Meis1, meis homeobox 1; Cyp11a1, cytochrome P450 family 11 subfamily A member 1; Star, steroidogenic acute regulatory protein; Nr5a1, nuclear receptor subfamily 5 group A member 1; Ldlr, low density lipoprotein receptor; Abca1, ATP binding cassette subfamily G member 1; Srebp-1c, sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1; Bcl-w, BCL2 like 2; Ccng1, cyclin G1; Foxd1, forkhead box D1; Dsc1, desmocollin 1; GLI3, GLI family zinc finger 3; RNF4, ring finger protein 4.

2016; Ma *et al.*, 2016*a*). Alternatively, any deregulation of miRNAs in the testes could alter the expression of important genes that could disrupt the hormone balance, resulting in spermatogenesis failure, reproductive diseases and infertility such as azoospermia or oligospermia in males (Eggers *et al.*, 2014; Hu *et al.*, 2013; Shih *et al.*, 2015; Ghorbian, 2012).

In human, miR-133b regulates Sertoli cell proliferation by directly targeting *GLI family zinc finger 3 (GLI3)* following the upregulation of *CCNB1* and *CCND1* (Yao *et al.*, 2016). In pigs, miR-762 promotes the growth and proliferation of immature Sertoli cells by targeting *RNF4* (Ma *et al.*, 2016*a*). In the mouse, miR-471 directly participates in steroidogenesis by regulating *forkhead box D1* (*Foxd1*) and *desmocollin 1* (*Dsc1*): these genes regulate the metabolism of Sertoli cells and cell–cell adhesion in the testis, respectively (Panneerdoss *et al.*, 2012). In the rat, miR-132 and miR-214 repress *sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1* (*Srebp-1c*) and *low density lipoprotein receptor* (*Ldlr*), respectively, and both regulate



Fig. 4. MicroRNA (miRNA) regulation in the maintenance of female hormonal balance. The proliferation, growth, differentiation, functioning, and apoptosis of female steroidogenic cells [granulosa cell (GC) and thecal cell (TC)] are highly regulated by miRNAs. miRNAs are also active regulators of female steroidogenic genes including cytochrome P450 family 19 subfamily A member 1 (Cyp19a1); steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (Star), and prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (Ptgs2); thus, miRNAs directly regulate the steroidogenic process in females through gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and luteinizing hormone (LH) signalling. The vasculogenesis and angiogenesis of progesterone-producing corpus lutem (CL) is also related to the expression of miRNAs, making miRNAs important regulatory molecules during the female steroidogenic processes. miRNAs are involved in both follicular steroidogenesis and luteal steroidogenesis.  $PGF2\alpha$ , prostaglandin; COC, cumulus-oocyte complex; E2f1, E2F transcription factor 1; Sf-1, steroidogenic factor 1 nuclear receptor; IL-1b, interleukin 1 beta; COX-2, cyclooxygenase 2; INHBB, inhibin beta B subunit; Ctbp1, C-terminal binding protein 1; Tagln2, transgelin 2; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; CDKN1A, cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 1A; SP1, specificity protein 1; Foxl2, forkhead box L2; Rbms1, RNA binding motif single stranded interacting protein 1; Nurr1, nuclear receptor subfamily 4 group A member 2; Lrbp, LH receptor mRNA-binding protein; Acvr1b, activin A receptor type 1B; XIAP, X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis; ATM, ATM serine/threonine kinase; TGFBR1, transforming growth factor beta receptor 1; CCND2, cyclin D2; BCL-XL, BCL2 like 1; SMAD5, SMAD family member 5; SMAD4, SMAD family member 4; BCL2, B-cell lymphoma 2; BAX, BCL2 associated X protein; GLG1, Golgi glycoprotein 1; ZEB1, zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1; BMP4, bone morphogenetic protein 4; PTGFRN, prostaglandin F2 receptor inhibitor; IFNGR1, interferon gamma receptor 1.

steroidogenesis (Hu *et al.*, 2013). miRNA-23b regulates *Pten* and *epidermal growth factor receptor pathway substrate 15 (Eps15)* in an FSH-dependent manner, and its function is implicated in endocytosis, focal adhesion, and actin cytoskeleton regulation during spermatogenesis (Nicholls *et al.*, 2011). By contrast, numerous miRNAs in steroidogenic cells are expressed in an FSH- and androgen-dependent manner (Nicholls *et al.*, 2011; Panneerdoss *et al.*, 2012; Shih *et al.*, 2015). This indicates that

the expression of miRNAs and hormones are interdependent; a change in one of them can alter the expression of the other. It has been reported that patients suffering from azoospermia and oligospermia showed deregulated miRNA expression profiles (Ghorbian, 2012). Therefore, miRNAs and hormones potentially develop a feedback loop in the testes, and hormone-mediated gene expression in the testes is regulated in a miRNA-dependent manner.

## (2) Hormonal balance and steroidogenesis in females

miRNAs mainly regulate steroidogenesis in females by regulating the growth, proliferation, and apoptosis of female steroidogenic cells, GCs and TCs. In addition, hypothalamic GnRH signalling following changes in levels of FSH and LH is also regulated by a panel of miRNAs (Hasuwa et al., 2013; Ahmed et al., 2017; Messina & Prevot, 2017). The synthesis and inhibition of steroidogenic hormones including oestrogen, progesterone, and prostaglandin  $(PGF2\alpha)$  are also regulated in a miRNA-dependent manner. In humans, miR-23a/b targets CYP19A1 (Alford et al., 2007), and miR-17, miR-211, and miR-542 target steroidogenic acute regulatory protein (StAR), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1b), and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), respectively. Thus, these miRNAs regulate the steroidogenesis process in follicular cells (Toloubeydokhti, Bukulmez, & Chegini, 2008). In pigs, miR-34a and miR-26b target INHBB and SMAD4, respectively, and negatively regulate the steroidogenic process by promoting the apoptosis of GCs (Liu et al., 2014; Tu et al., 2014). Similarly, miR-423-5p and miR-378 post-transcriptionally downregulate CYP19A1 (Xu et al., 2011a; Sui et al., 2014) and miR-375 binds to the 3' untranslated region of specificity protein 1 (SP1) and mediates corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) signalling (Yu et al., 2017): these miRNAs directly regulate oestradiol synthesis in porcine GCs. In mice, miR-224 enhances Tgf $\beta$ -induced proliferation of GCs by targeting Smad4 and promotes oestradiol biogenesis by increasing Cyp19a1 (Yao et al., 2010a). miR-21 plays anti-apoptotic roles and facilitates the maintenance of GCs, both in vitro and in vivo (Carletti et al., 2010), while miR-132 and miR-212 regulate the differentiation of GCs by targeting *C-terminal binding* protein 1 (Ctbp1) (Fiedler et al., 2008). miR-132 regulates cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) signalling and promotes oestradiol production in mouse GCs through translational repression of nuclear receptor related 1 (Nurr1) following upregulation of Cyp19a1 (Wu et al., 2015), and miR-122 increases LHCGR mRNA-binding protein (Lrbp) expression by activating Srebp in rat ovaries (Menon et al., 2013).

Steroid-producing GCs are also regulated by TAGLN2and forkhead box L2 (FOXL2)-targeting miR-133b (Dai et al., 2013; Xiao et al., 2014), which enhances StAR and CYP19A1, as well as oestradiol production (Dai et al., 2013). Similarly, miR-383 facilitates oestradiol biosynthesis by inhibiting RNA binding motif single-stranded interacting protein 1 (Rbms1), a DNA-binding protein that activates *c*-Myc in mouse GCs (Yin et al., 2012), while the expression of miR-383 is regulated by equine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG) and human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) (Donadeu et al., 2012). Additionally, FSH alters the expression of 31 miRNAs in rat GCs. Among them, miR-23b is increased, whereas miR-29a and miR-30d are decreased after 12 h of exposure; however, both miR-29a and miR-30d were increased after 48 h of exposure (Yao et al., 2010b), indicating that the length of hormonal exposure influences miRNA expression. Similarly, exposure of GCs

to LH/hCG enhances the expression of miR-132, miR-212, miR-21, and miR-122 (Fiedler et al., 2008; Carletti et al., 2010; Menon et al., 2013). In addition, 57 miRNAs including members of the let-7 family, miR-16, and miR-122 play a role in female reproduction by inhibiting testosterone biosynthesis (Sirotkin et al., 2009). miR-320 also regulates the proliferation and functions of GCs by targeting E2f1 and *splicing factor 1 (Sf1*), thereby promoting progesterone and testosterone levels and inhibiting E2 biosynthesis in mice (Yin et al., 2014). Similarly, 36 miRNAs including the let-7 family, miR-15a, and miR-17-3p inhibit progesterone biosynthesis, and 16 miRNAs including miR-16, miR-24, and miR-191 promote progesterone synthesis in GCs (Sirotkin et al., 2009). By contrast, miR-107 enhances testosterone biosynthesis in female gonads (Sirotkin et al., 2009). In addition, prenatal exposure to testosterone greatly influences the expression of miR-497 and miR-15b in sheep ovaries (Luense et al., 2011).

By contrast, many miRNAs play anti-steroidogenic roles by inhibiting growth and proliferation, and increasing apoptosis of GCs and TCs: miR-145 attenuates mouse GC proliferation by targeting Acvr1b (Yan et al., 2012), miR-23a plays a pro-apoptotic role in luteinized human GCs by reducing expression of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) and increasing CAS3 (Yang et al., 2012), and miR-23a and miR-27a also increase the apoptosis of human GCs by targeting SMAD5 and positively regulating Fas-induced death signals (Nie et al., 2015). Expression of miR-26b induces apoptosis of GCs in pigs by directly targeting ATM, a gene involved in DNA repair (Lin et al., 2012), and by suppressing SMAD4 signalling and BCL2 (Liu et al., 2014); let-7 g promotes GC apoptosis in pigs by targeting *TGFBR1* and downregulating the TGF $\beta$  signalling pathway (Zhou et al., 2015) as well as by targeting CCND2 and BCL2L1 and regulating MAPK and p53 signalling (Cao et al., 2015). Additionally, a group of miRNAs including miR-15a, and miR-29a promote the accumulation of BAX, thus enhancing the apoptosis of human GCs (Sirotkin et al., 2010). In addition, the follicular to luteal transition process and ovulation are stimulated by the presence of steroidogenic genes that are also regulated by miRNAs (Donadeu et al., 2012; Iwamune et al., 2014). Taken together, miRNAs control the biosynthesis of female steroidogenic hormones including oestrogen, progesterone, and androgens by regulating the proliferation, growth, and apoptosis of ovarian GCs and TCs.

# VII. miRNAs AS REGULATORS OF ZYGOTIC AND EARLY EMBRYO REPROGRAMMING

Endometrial miRNAs along with parental miRNAs from the germline or uterine fluid could participate in maternal–embryo crosstalk (Saadeldin *et al.*, 2015) and could play important roles during epigenetic reprogramming of the embryonic cells by regulating the expression and functions of genes related to early embryonic development (see Table S5).

# (1) Roles during fertilization, ZGA, and epigenetic reprogramming of preimplantation embryos

Recent data suggested that sperm-borne miRNAs must be transferred into a fertilized embryo to maintain maternal and paternal communication. For example, Yuan et al. (2016) produced zygotes using Drosha conditional knockout (cKO) mouse-derived miRNA-depleted sperm and found the resulting zygotes to have reduced developmental potential. Of note, the developmental competence of these zygotes could be recovered through the injection of small miRNAs derived from WT sperm. Furthermore, they found 14 sperm-borne miRNAs to be present in both WT sperm and the zygote, but not in oocytes, indicating that sperm-borne miRNAs can affect the development potential of fertilized embryos. By contrast, most zygotic miRNAs are derived from maternal oocytes (Tang et al., 2007). Altered miRNA expression in cumulus cells could result in a poor ovarian response in women undergoing in vitro fertilization (Karakaya et al., 2015), and some miRNAs are highly specific to the blastocyst and are not expressed in the oocytes (Tulay et al., 2015). In addition, sperm-borne miR-34c-5p is thought to initiate the first cleavage divisions in the mouse (Liu et al., 2012), and is positively correlated with intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes, as well as high-quality embryos, implantation, pregnancy and live birth in humans (Cui et al., 2015), and the presence of miR-34c-5p indicates viability and high-quality spermatozoa in humans (Abu-Halima et al., 2014). Similarly, sperm-borne miR-34b/c and mir-449a/b/c play a critical role in the in vitro first cleavage division of mouse embryos (Liu et al., 2012; Yuan et al., 2015). Based on the above findings, the presence of miR-34c-5p can be considered a non-invasive biomarker for viable sperm and embryos in the mouse and human. In future, miR-34c-5p could be a universal biomarker for viable mammalian sperm and embryos; however, it requires intensive validation using other species.

Another study suggested that miR-34b/c- and miR-449-null male mice were fertile, whereas miR-34b/c and miR-449 double-knockout (miR-dKO) male mice were infertile due to severe spermatogenic disruptions and oligoasthenoteratozoospermia (Yuan et al., 2015). However, injection of miR-dKO round spermatids into fertile mouse oocyte successfully gave rise to healthy offspring (Yuan et al., 2015): indicating that this miRNA family is essential for normal spermatogenesis, but not for fertilization and embryonic development (Liu et al., 2016). Sperm-derived miR-191, miR-16, and miR-146a are the most abundant miRNAs in early zygotes of mice (Yang et al., 2016), but their roles are not clear. Despite being silenced functionally, the biogenesis of miRNAs is not abrogated during fertilization to ZGA in mice (Tang et al., 2007; Suh et al., 2010), suggesting that miRNAs might have important roles during transformation of zygotes to pluripotent blastocysts (Tang et al., 2007; Suh et al., 2010). Some miRNAs are stage-specific: miR-125a and miR-496 are specific to four-cell bovine embryos, while miR-127, miR-145, and miR-496 are specific to eight-cell bovine embryos. However, most miRNAs showed fluctuating expression patterns according to the stage of bovine embryonic development (Tesfaye *et al.*, 2009). This switch in miRNA expression patterns between ZGA and pluripotent blastocyst involves massive molecular rewiring (Hemberger, Dean, & Reik, 2009), and thus miRNAs might play a vital role during the transition of fertilized oocytes to pluripotent blastocysts (Svoboda & Flemr, 2010). Based on these findings, we can conclude that parental miRNAs might have important but limited roles during fertilization and the ZGA; however, miRNAs might be a key regulatory player during the developmental transition from the ZGA to pluripotent blastocyst.

miR-29b has been suggested to target de novo DNA methyltransferases (Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b) transcripts in PGCs (Takada et al., 2009). The suppression of Dnmt by miRNAs safeguards proper DNA demethylation and establishes the new imprinting of genes. Similarly, Dnmt3a/3b expression was negatively regulated by miR-29b at the time of mouse ZGA (Zhang et al., 2015). Given that DNA methylation plays a critical role in the morula-to-blastocyst transition, these data suggest a feedback relationship between the regulation of miRNA expression and DNA methylation. In addition, pluripotency markers including kruppel like factor 4 (Klf4) and nanog homeobox (Nanog) were downregulated in the morula stage upon miR-29b inhibition (Wang et al., 2016), indicating the involvement of miR-29b in the regulation of pluripotency. Similarly, the miR-290/302 cluster is involved with embryonic pluripotency, although an opposing role of this cluster was shown in one study (Gu et al., 2016). Again, differential expression of miRNAs subsets during trophectoderm specification (Viswanathan et al., 2009) or severe preeclamptic placentas (Pineles et al., 2007) evidence a role for miRNAs during the implantation process. The endometrial miRNAs along with miRNAs from the uterine fluid also could participate during maternal-embryo crosstalk and play an important role during the epigenetic reprogramming of the embryonic cells (Fig. 5). Thus, accumulating evidence suggests that miRNAs are at least indirectly engaged in the epigenetic reprogramming process of early embryos.

# (2) miRNAs regulate germ-layer specification in early embryos

During the gastrulation stage, embryonic stem cells (ESCs) differentiate to epiblast stem cells (EpSCs) and then EpSCs begin to differentiate into the endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm lineages. Differentiation starts with the downregulation of pluripotency markers including *octamer-binding protein 4 (Oct4), Nanog, Klf4*, and *c-Myc*, which are regulated by miR-24-3p and miR-24-2-5p, while expression of *protein arginine methyltransferase 7 (Prmt7)* inhibits miR-24-3p and miR-24-2-5p. Thus, miR-24-3p and miR-24-2-5p. Thus, miR-24-3p and miR-24-2-5p. Create a feedback loop with *Prmt7* and regulate the differentiation of mouse ESCs (Lee *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, miR-124a in humans, and miR-200a/b/c, miR-141 and miR-429 in the mouse



Fig. 5. MicroRNA (miRNA) regulation during implantation and germ layer specification. Based on their functions, miRNAs are categorized as anti- or pro-implantation miRNAs, pluripotency miRNAs, or miRNAs that promote differentiation and commitment of mesoderm, endoderm, ectoderm, and trophectoderm lineages. Parental miRNAs might be important regulators during embryonic germ layer specification; variation in the absorption of parental miRNAs could initiate variation in differentiation potential of the inner cell mass (ICM), and thus could direct the ICM towards different germ layers. For example, absorption of miRNA-A by an ICM cell could suppress the endoderm and ectoderm lineage in that particular cell and thus facilitate mesoderm commitment. Similarly, the absorption of miRNA-B by an ICM cell could suppress the mesoderm and ectoderm lineage in that respective cell and could direct the cell towards the endoderm lineage; the absorption of miRNA-C by an ICM cell might facilitate ectoderm commitment by suppressing the mesoderm and endoderm lineages. Muc1, mucin 1, cell surface associated; c-Myc, MYC proto-oncogene, BHLH transcription factor;  $TGF\beta$ , transforming growth factor beta; Reck, reversion inducing cysteine-rich protein with kazal motifs; Mmp9, matrix metallopeptidase 9; Pten, phosphatase and tensin homolog; Ptgs2, prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2; Zeb1, zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1; Zeb2, zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 2; Tiam1, T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1; Rac1, Rac family small GTPase 1; Igf1, insulin like growth factor 1; Igf1r, insulin like growth factor 1 receptor; Oct4, octamer-binding protein 4; Nanog, nanog homeobox; Klf4, kruppel like factor 4; Smad5, SMAD family member 5; Id2, inhibitor of DNA binding 2; Lefty2, left–right determination factor 2; Acvr1b, activin A receptor type 1B; Smad2, SMAD family member 2; Hdac, histone deacetylase; TIMM8A, translocase of inner mitochondrial membrane 8A; EED, embryonic ectoderm development; SMAD4, SMAD family member 4.

regulate early gastrulation-stage embryos (Berardi *et al.*, 2012). In ESCs, miR-191 and miR-16-1 are abundant, and inhibit the formation of mesoderm by downregulating *Smad2*, an essential component of *Activin–Nodal* signalling (Hadjimichael *et al.*, 2016), while miR-23a may suppress the differentiation of ESCs towards the endoderm and ectoderm lineages (Hadjimichael *et al.*, 2016). By contrast, expression of miR-9, miR-124a, miR-155, and miR-708 facilitate the

differentiation of mouse ESCs (Marson *et al.*, 2008), and the overexpression of miR-21 facilitates the commitment of mesodermal tissues such as adipose and bone (Eguchi *et al.*, 2013; Kang *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, miR-303-367 and miR-290-295 clusters may play an important role during the patterning and specification of embryonic germ layers in humans and mice, respectively, by regulating *Nodal* signalling (Vidigal & Ventura, 2012). During this stage, BMPs, Activin/Nodal, and canonical Wnts signals play critical roles for the transition of inner cell mass (ICM) to mesoderm or endoderm, whereas non-canonical Wnts, fibroblast growth factors (FGFs), Notch, and hedgehog (Hh) signalling are closely involved in the transition of *mesoderm posterior 1 homolog* (*Mesp1*)-specified mesoderm to cardiac mesoderm.

Embryonic mesoderm shows predominant expression of miR-145 and miR-302 in humans and miR-290, miR-93, and miR-17-5p in mice (Berardi et al., 2012). Similarly, the miR-200 family is known for its role in early mesoderm commitment by regulating snail family transcriptional repressor 1 (Snail) (Gill et al., 2011). miR-145 accelerates mesoderm and ectoderm commitment by targeting OCT4, sex determining region Y-box 2 (SOX2), and KLF4 in human ESCs (Xu et al., 2009), and miR-127 induces differentiation of mouse ESCs to the mesendoderm lineage by targeting *left-right* determination factor 2 (Lefty2) and regulating Nodal signalling (Ma et al., 2016b). let-7 and miR-18 target Acvr1b and Smad2, respectively, and may attenuate Nodal responsiveness as well as bias the blastomeres towards the ectoderm and mesoderm (Colas et al., 2012). Thus, in vivo blocking of let-7 and miR-18 activity may divert the presumptive mesoderm and ectoderm towards the endoderm (Colas et al., 2012).

Embryonic endoderm expresses miR-145, miR-10a, miR-24, miR-375, miR-122, miR-192, miR-196a, and miR-196b in humans and miR-93, miR-338-5p, and miR-340-3p in mice (Berardi *et al.*, 2012). miR-421 represses *Oct4* and *BMP* signalling components such as *Smad5* and *inhibitor of DNA binding 2 (Id2)* in mouse ESCs (Hadjimichael *et al.*, 2016), while miR-338-5p and miR-340-3p promote endodermal differentiation of mouse ESCs by regulating *histone deacetylase (Hdac)* activity (Fu *et al.*, 2011), and miR-375 plays important roles in endoderm commitment in human ESCs by targeting *translocase of inner mitochondrial membrane 8A (TIMM8A)* (Hinton *et al.*, 2010).

Embryonic ectoderm also represents a unique miRNA profile, and predominant expression of miR-125, miR-30b, and miR-30c have been observed in embryonic human ectoderm, while miR-29c, miR-125a, miR-376a, miR-297, miR-96, miR-21, let-7, miR-424, and miR-214 were predominant in the embryonic ectoderm of mice (Berardi et al., 2012). In addition, miR-30b modulates formation of early human ectoderm by regulating embryonic ectoderm development (EED) (Song et al., 2011), miR-125 and miR-146b-5p regulate the commitment of the neural lineage in humans by targeting SMAD4 (Boissart et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2017), miR-17-5p promotes proliferation and inhibits the differentiation of lung epithelial progenitor cells in mice by targeting RB transcriptional corepressor like 2 (Rbl2) (Lu et al., 2007), and overexpression of miR-125b-2 represses the differentiation of mouse ESCs to the ectodermal lineage by regulating Lin28 and differentiation of embryonic stem cells 1 (Dies1) (Deng et al., 2015).

miR-125, miR-30b, and miR-30c are specific to human embryonic trophectoderm, while the expression of miR-297, miR-214, miR-96, miR-125a, miR-21, miR-93, miR-424, miR-29c, let-7, and miR-376a was detected in mouse trophectoderm (Berardi *et al.*, 2012). Additionally, mouse blastocysts showed upregulated expression of a panel of miRNAs and downregulated expression of miR-376a compared to the morula stage, indicating the involvement of related miRNAs during trophectoderm commitment (Viswanathan *et al.*, 2009).

Finally, early embryos may be enriched with a panel of parental miRNAs (Fig. 5), either through gametes (Tang et al., 2007; Yuan et al., 2016) or embryo-maternal crosstalk (Saadeldin et al., 2015; Bidarimath et al., 2017). Exosomes and cell-membrane-derived micro- and nano-vesicles could be the main medium for this embryo-maternal crosstalk (Diehl et al., 2012; Saadeldin et al., 2015), however, miRNAs could also be carried through the circulatory system by apoptotic bodies, RNA-binding lipoproteins and Argonaute protein complex (Ling, Bao-feng, & Jing, 2013; Sohel, 2016). These circulating miRNAs originating from one cell or organ could be transported to and absorbed by neighbouring or distant cells, for example, miRNAs originating from tumour cells could be absorbed by other healthy cells leading to their transformation to malignancy (Guo et al., 2017). Thus, it could be assumed that each cell of the embryonic ICM randomly absorbs different maternal miRNAs delivered through the circulatory system; this variation in miRNA intake among the cells of the embryonic ICM may lead the cells towards different lineages. For example, one cell may absorb a miRNA-A panel, leading to the mesoderm lineage, another may absorb a miRNA-B panel and commit to the endoderm lineage, while a third cell may absorb a miRNA-C panel to specify the ectoderm lineages (Fig. 5). However, further in-depth experiments, both in vitro and in vivo, are required to support these hypotheses.

# (3) miRNAs regulate pregnancy by mediating adhesion molecules, vasculature and angiogenesis

miRNAs involved in the implantation process can be categorized into two groups, anti- or pro-implantation miRNAs (Fig. 5); these miRNAs are potent regulators of many genes related to adhesion, angiogenesis, and vasculature (see Table S5), as well as foetal-maternal immune tolerance following endometrial reception of the conceptus (Bidarimath et al., 2014, 2015). Alterations in expression of these miRNAs in the uterine endometrium could cause implantation failure as well as disease (Hiroki et al., 2010). For example, the let-7 family regulates the expression of mucin 1, cell surface associated (Muc1) and facilitates implantation of mouse embryos (Invawilert et al., 2015), the miR-30 family is generally upregulated at the implantation site and may participate in embryo-endometrium crosstalk and nourishment of the implanting embryo (Moreno-Moya et al., 2014), the miR-17-92 cluster is upregulated at the implantation site, and may regulate the decidualization (morphological and functional changes of the endometrium in preparation for pregnancy) and implantation process by targeting E2F and  $TGF\beta$  signalling (Mogilyansky & Rigoutsos, 2013). Similarly, miR-21 is upregulated at the implantation site and regulates matrix metallopeptidase 2 (Mmp2) and matrix metallopeptidase 9 (Mmp9) expression by targeting reversion inducing cysteine-rich protein with kazal motifs (Reck) during implantation in mice (Hu et al., 2008; Carletti & Christenson, 2009) and PTEN during the proliferation of endometrial epithelial cells (Oin et al., 2012). miR-29a is highly expressed in the uterus during implantation and inhibits apoptotic molecules (Xia et al., 2014), and miR-101a and miR-199a\* regulate the implantation process by directly targeting Cox-2 (Ptgs), an important molecule for decidualization (Chakrabarty et al., 2007). A panel of miRNAs including miR-10a, miR-27a, miR-29c, miR-323, miR-331-5p, miR-339-3p, miR-374-5p, and miR-935 are reported to be associated with spontaneous foetal arrest in pigs (Wessels et al., 2013), while miR-296-5P, miR-150, miR-17P-5P, miR-18a, and miR-19 are associated with angiogenesis of the endometrial tissues in pigs (Bidarimath et al., 2015), and are differentially expressed between healthy and arresting conceptus attachment site (Bidarimath et al., 2015). Thus these miRNAs could be used to assess foetal health, although this requires validation with other mammalian species. Additionally, some miRNAs participate in the implantation process indirectly, such as by promoting the proliferation of trophoblast cells (Luo et al., 2012; Fu et al., 2013), by facilitating trophoblast migration (Bai et al., 2012; Luo et al., 2012; Fu et al., 2013), by inhibiting the apoptosis of trophoblasts (Pineles et al., 2007), and by participating in conceptus-endometrial crosstalk (Bidarimath et al., 2017).

By contrast, the expression of oestradioland progesterone-regulatory miR-200 family members decreases naturally, while its targets Zeb1 and zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 2(Zeb2) are upregulated during implantation in mice (Jimenez et al., 2016), and forced expression of miR-200a reduced the implantation rate of mouse embryos by regulating Pten-mediated proliferation and apoptosis of cells (Shen et al., 2013). Overexpression of miR-22 suppresses T-cell lymphoma invasion and metastasis 1 (Tiam1) and Rac family small GTPase 1 (Rac1), causing implantation failure (Ma et al., 2015), while overexpression of miR-145 also causes implantation failure in mice by blocking crosstalk between embryonic Igf1 and maternal insulin like growth factor 1 receptor (Igf1r) (Kang et al., 2015). Similarly, miR-451, miR-424, miR-125b, and miR-30b are downregulated when progesterone is elevated compared to that under normal conditions (Li et al., 2011). Oestrogen-mediated inhibition of miR-705 facilitates Mmp9 translation (Carletti & Christenson, 2009), which may be important for proper implantation of embryos and thus pregnancy. Some other miRNAs play anti-implantation roles by inhibiting proliferation (Dai et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2012), inducing apoptosis (Li et al., 2013), and inhibiting migration (Zhang et al., 2012; Umemura et al., 2013) of the trophoblasts, as well as by suppressing vascularization and angiogenesis during implantation of embryos (Wang et al., 2012).

Active or pseudopregnancy could be confirmed by the expression of miR-21, which is expressed only in the presence of active embryos (Hu *et al.*, 2008; Luense *et al.*,

2009). As discussed earlier, miRNAs also participate in the maintenance of pregnancy by regulating angiogenesis and vasculogenesis of luteal tissues. In brief, miR-125b, miR-145, mir-31, miR-503 and miR-21 regulate interferon-mediated cell death, and vascularization and angiogenesis in ruminant CL (Donadeu et al., 2012), and miR-378 regulates the maintenance of the bovine CL by regulating its target IFNGR1 (Ma et al., 2011). miR-17-5p and let-7 play important roles in CL formation by targeting the anti-angiogenic gene *Timp1* (Otsuka *et al.*, 2008). In sheep, miR-199a-3p, miR-145 and miR-503 are expressed differentially at different stages of the CL and are involved in fibrosis, and immune and inflammatory responses (Donadeu et al., 2012). Taken together, miRNAs mediate implantation and pregnancy in mammals by regulating hormone levels throughout pregnancy, maintaining crosstalk between the embryo and mother, and facilitating angiogenesis and vascularization of the endometrium and luteal tissues.

#### VIII. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Loss of miRNA processing machinery could impair reproduction at the molecular level and causes infertility or sterility to different extents depending on sex, age and stage of loss, but the external sex characteristics along with mating behaviour remain normal in both males and females.

(2) miRNAs are mostly indispensable during pre- and post-fertilization stages (such as sex differentiation, germline establishment, gametogenesis, preimplantation development and implantation of embryos) but might have very limited roles during the fertilization event. miRNA-loss-mediated infertility therefore derives from the malformation of gametes, not because of its absence during the fertilization event itself.

(3) miRNAs could have a direct involvement in the global silencing of X-linked gene expression during the MSCI process of spermatogenesis and in the initiation of ZGA and the first embryonic cell division.

(4) Steroidogenesis in both sexes is regulated by potent feedback loops comprising miRNAs, genes, and hormones; deregulation in any of which could impair the whole process of mammalian reproduction.

(5) miRNAs could be used as fertility biomarkers for both gametes, and also to differentiate between pseudo and viable pregnancy.

(6) Parental miRNAs (derived from gametes or embryo-maternal crosstalk) could play very important roles in epigenetic modifications and germ-layer specification of embryos. They may also be important in the implantation and maintenance of pregnancy by regulating angiogenesis and vascularization of the endometrium tissues and CL.

(7) Much work remains to be done to understand the roles of miRNAs in mammalian reproduction, especially in MSCI, the first embryonic cell division and ZGA, germ-layer specification and embryo-maternal crosstalk.

#### **IX. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

This work was supported by the Science Research Center (2015R1A5A1009701) from the National Research Foundation of Korea. A.M.M.T.R., K.H., and J.-H.K. wrote the manuscript and designed the figs A.M.M.T.R. performed the literature search and analysed the information. A.M.M.T.R., S.G.H., and H.S. prepared the figs Y.-J.C. and C.P. assisted with the literature search.

#### X. REFERENCES

References marked with asterisk have been cited within the supporting information.

- ABD EL NABY, W. S., HAGOS, T. H., HOSSAIN, M. M., SALILEW-WONDIM, D., GAD, A. Y., RINGS, F., CINAR, M. U., THOLEN, E., LOOFT, C., SCHELLANDER, K., HOELKER, M. & TESFAYE, D. (2013). Expression analysis of regulatory microRNAs in bovine cumulus oocyte complex and preimplantation embryos. *Zygole* 21, 31–51.
- ABU-HALIMA, M., HAMMADEH, M., BACKES, C., FISCHER, U., LEIDINGER, P., LUBBAD, A. M., KELLER, A. & MEESE, E. (2014). Panel of five microRNAs as potential biomarkers for the diagnosis and assessment of male infertility. *Fertility and Sterility* 102, 989–997.e1.
- AHMED, K., LAPIERRE, M. P., GASSER, E., DENZLER, R., YANG, Y., RULICKE, T., KERO, J., LATREILLE, M. & STOFFEL, M. (2017). Loss of microRNA-7a2 induces hypogonadotropic hypogonadism and infertility. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 127, 1061–1074.
- AHN, H. W., MORIN, R. D., ZHAO, H., HARRIS, R. A., COARFA, C., CHEN, Z. J., MILOSAVLJEVIC, A., MARRA, M. A. & RAJKOVIC, A. (2010). MicroRNA transcriptome in the newborn mouse ovaries determined by massive parallel sequencing. *Molecular Human Reproduction* 16, 463–471.
- ALFORD, C., TOLOUBEYDOKHTI, T., AL-KATANANI, Y., DRURY, K. C., WILLIAMS, R. & CHENINI, N. (2007). The expression of microRNA (miRNA) mir-23a and 23b and their target gene, CYP19A1 (aromatase) in follicular cells obtained from women undergoing ART. *Fertility and Sterility* 88, S166–S167.
- BAI, Y., YANG, W., YANG, H. X., LIAO, Q., YE, G., FU, G., JI, L., XU, P., WANG, H., LI, Y. X., PENG, C. & WANG, Y. L. (2012). Downregulated miR-195 detected in preeclamptic placenta affects trophoblast cell invasion via modulating ActRIIA expression. *PLoS One* 7, e38875.
- BAO, J., LI, D., WANG, L., WU, J., HU, Y., WANG, Z., CHEN, Y., CAO, X., JIANG, C., YAN, W. & XU, C. (2012). MicroRNA-449 and microRNA-34b/c function redundantly in murine testes by targeting E2F transcription factor-retinoblastoma protein (E2F-pRb) pathway. *Journal Biological Chemistry* 287, 21686–21698.
- BELLEANNEE, C. (2015). Extracellular microRNAs from the epididymis as potential mediators of cell-to-cell communication. Asian Journal of Andrology 17, 730-736.
- BELLEANNEE, C., CALVO, É., CABALLERO, J. & SULLIVAN, R. (2013a). Epididymosomes convey different repertoires of microRNAs throughout the bovine epididymis. *Biology of Reproduction* 89(30), 1–11.
- BELLEANNEE, C., CALVO, E., THIMON, V., CYR, D. G., LEGARE, C., GARNEAU, L & SULLIVAN, R. (2012). Role of microRNAs in controlling gene expression in different segments of the human epididymis. *PLoS One* 7, e34996.
- BELLEANNEE, C., LEGARE, C., CALVO, E., THIMON, V. & SULLIVAN, R. (2013b). microRNA signature is altered in both human epididymis and seminal microvesicles following vasectomy. *Human Reproduction* 28, 1455–1467.
- BERARDI, E., PUES, M., THORREZ, L. & SAMPAOLESI, M. (2012). miRNAs in ESC differentiation. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology 303, H931-H939.
- BERNSTEIN, E., KIM, S. Y., CARMELL, M. A., MURCHISON, E. P., ALCORN, H., LI, M. Z., MILLS, A. A., ELLEDGE, S. J., ANDERSON, K. V. & HANNON, G. J. (2003). Dicer is essential for mouse development. *Nature Genetics* 35, 215–217.
- BIDARIMATH, M., EDWARDS, A. K., WESSELS, J. M., KHALAJ, K., KRIDLI, R. T. & TAYADE, C. (2015). Distinct microRNA expression in endometrial lymphocytes, endometrium, and trophoblast during spontaneous porcine fetal loss. *Journal of Reproductive Immunology* **107**, 64–79.
- BIDARIMATH, M., KHALAJ, K., KRIDLI, R. T., KAN, F. W., KOTI, M. & TAYADE, C. (2017). Extracellular vesicle mediated intercellular communication at the porcine maternal-fetal interface: a new paradigm for conceptus-endometrial cross-talk. *Scientific Reports* 7, 40476.
- BIDARIMATH, M., KHALAJ, K., WESSELS, J. M. & TAYADE, C. (2014). MicroRNAs, immune cells and pregnancy. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology* 11, 538–547.
- BJORK, J. K., SANDQVIST, A., ELSING, A. N., KOTAJA, N. & SISTONEN, L. (2010). miR-18, a member of Oncomir-1, targets heat shock transcription factor 2 in spermatogenesis. *Development* 137, 3177–3184.

- BJORKGREN, I., GYLLING, H., TURUNEN, H., HUHTANIEMI, I., STRAUSS, L., POUTANEN, M. & SIPILA, P. (2015). Imbalanced lipid homeostasis in the conditional Dicer1 knockout mouse epididymis causes instability of the sperm membrane. *The FASEB Journal* 29, 433–442.
- BOISSART, C., NISSAN, X., GIRAUD-TRIBOULT, K., PESCHANSKI, M. & BENCHOUA, A. (2012). miR-125 potentiates early neural specification of human embryonic stem cells. *Development* 139, 1247–1257.
- BOUHALLIER, F., ALLIOLI, N., LAVIAL, F., CHALMEL, F., PERRARD, M. H., DURAND, P., SAMARUT, J., PAIN, B. & ROUAULT, J. P. (2010). Role of miR-34c microRNA in the late steps of spermatogenesis. *RNA* 16, 720–731.
- BRIENO-ENRIQUEZ, M. A., GARCIA-LOPEZ, J., CARDENAS, D. B., GUIBERT, S., CLEROUX, E., DED, L., HOURCADE JDE, D., PEKNICOVA, J., WEBER, M. & DEL MAZO, J. (2015). Exposure to endocrine disruptor induces transgenerational epigenetic deregulation of microRNAs in primordial germ cells. *PLoS One* 10, e0124296.
- CAO, R., WU, W. J., ZHOU, X. L., XIAO, P., WANG, Y. & LIU, H. L. (2015). Expression and preliminary functional profiling of the let-7 family during porcine ovary follicle atresia. *Molecules and Cells* 38, 304–311.
- CARLETTI, M. Z. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2009). MicroRNA in the ovary and female reproductive tract. *Journal of Animal Science* 87, E29–E38.
- CARLETTI, M. Z., FIEDLER, S. D. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2010). MicroRNA 21 blocks apoptosis in mouse periovulatory granulosa cells. *Biology of Reproduction* 83, 286–295.
- CHAKRABARTY, A., TRANGUCH, S., DAIKOKU, T., JENSEN, K., FURNEAUX, H. & DEY, S. K. (2007). MicroRNA regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 during embryo implantation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, 15144–15149.
- CHANG, Y., DAI, D. H., LI, Y., ZHANG, Y., ZHANG, M., ZHOU, G. B. & ZENG, C. J. (2016). Differences in the expression of microRNAs and their predicted gene targets between cauda epididymal and ejaculated boar sperm. *Theriogenology* 86, 2162–2171.
- CHANG, Y. F., LEE-CHANG, J. S., IMAM, J. S., BUDDAVARAPU, K. C., SUBARAN, S. S., SINHA-HIKIM, A. P., GOROSPE, M. & RAO, M. K. (2012). Interaction between microRNAs and actin-associated protein Arpc5 regulates translational suppression during male germ cell differentiation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109, 5750–5755.
- CHEN, R., DENG, L., YU, X., WANG, X., ZHU, L., YU, T., ZHANG, Y., ZHOU, B., XU, W., CHEN, L. & LUO, H. (2015a). MiR-122 partly mediates the ochratoxin A-induced GC-2 cell apoptosis. *Toxicology In Vitro* **30**, 264–273.
- CHEN, X., LI, X., GUO, J., ZHANG, P. & ZENG, W. (2017). The roles of microRNAs in regulation of mammalian spermatogenesis. *Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology* 8, 35.
- CHEN, X., XIE, M., LIU, D. & SHI, K. (2015b). Downregulation of microRNA146a inhibits ovarian granulosa cell apoptosis by simultaneously targeting interleukin1 receptorassociated kinase and tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor 6. *Molecular Medicine Reports* 12, 5155–5162.
- CHIEFFI, P., BATTISTA, S., BARCHI, M., DI AGOSTINO, S., PIERANTONI, G. M., FEDELE, M., CHIARIOTTI, L., TRAMONTANO, D. & FUSCO, A. (2002). HMGA1 and HMGA2 protein expression in mouse spermatogenesis. *Oncogene* 21, 3644–3650.
- CHOI, Y., QIN, Y., BERGER, M. F., BALLOW, D. J., BULYK, M. L. & RAJKOVIC, A. (2007). Microarray analyses of newborn mouse ovaries lacking Nobox. *Biology of Reproduction* 77, 312–319.
- CHU, C., ZHENG, G., HU, S., ZHANG, J., XIE, S., MA, W., NI, M., TANG, C., ZHOU, L., ZHOU, Y., LIU, M., LI, Y. & ZHANG, Y. (2015). Epididymal region-specific miRNA expression and DNA methylation and their roles in controlling gene expression in rats. *PLoS One* **10**, e0124450.
- COLAS, A. R., MCKEITHAN, W. L., CUNNINGHAM, T. J., BUSHWAY, P. J., GARMIRE, L. X., DUESTER, G., SUBRAMANIAM, S. & MERCOLA, M. (2012). Whole-genome microRNA screening identifies let-7 and mir-18 as regulators of germ layer formation during early embryogenesis. *Genes & Development* 26, 2567–2579.
- COOK, M. S. & BLELLOCH, R. (2013). Small RNAs in germline development. Current Topics in Developmental Biology 102, 159–205.
- CUI, L., FANG, L., SHI, B., QIU, S. & YE, Y. (2015). Spermatozoa micro ribonucleic acid-34c level is correlated with intracytoplasmic sperm injection outcomes. *Fertility* and Sterility 104, 312–317.e1.
- CUI, X. S., SUN, S. C., KANG, Y. K. & KIM, N. H. (2013). Involvement of microRNA-335-5p in cytoskeleton dynamics in mouse oocytes. *Reproduction, Fertility* and Development 25, 691–699.
- CURRY, E., SAFRANSKI, T. J. & PRATT, S. L. (2011). Differential expression of porcine sperm microRNAs and their association with sperm morphology and motility. *Theriogenology* 76, 1532–1539.
- DA SILVEIRA, J. C., DE ANDRADE, G. M., NOGUEIRA, M. F., MEIRELLES, F. V. & PERECIN, F. (2015). Involvement of miRNAs and cell-secreted vesicles in mammalian ovarian antral follicle development. *Reproductive Sciences* 22, 1474–1483.
- DA SILVEIRA, J. C., VEERAMACHANENI, D. N., WINGER, Q. A., CARNEVALE, E. M. & BOUMA, G. J. (2012). Cell-secreted vesicles in equine ovarian follicular fluid contain miRNAs and proteins: a possible new form of cell communication within the ovarian follicle. *Biology of Reproduction* 86(71), 1–10.

Biological Reviews 94 (2019) 415-438 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- DABAJA, A. A., MIELNIK, A., ROBINSON, B. D., WOSNITZER, M. S., SCHLEGEL, P. N. & PADUCH, D. A. (2015). Possible germ cell-Sertoli cell interactions are critical for establishing appropriate expression levels for the Sertoli cell-specific MicroRNA, miR-202-5p, in human testis. *Basic and Clinical Andrology* 25, 2.
- DAI, A., SUN, H., FANG, T., ZHANG, Q., WU, S., JIANG, Y., DING, L., YAN, G. & HU, Y. (2013). MicroRNA-133b stimulates ovarian estradiol synthesis by targeting Foxl2. *FEBS Letters* 587, 2474–2482.
- DAI, Y., QIU, Z., DIAO, Z., SHEN, L., XUE, P., SUN, H. & HU, Y. (2012). MicroRNA-155 inhibits proliferation and migration of human extravillous trophoblast derived HTR-8/SVnco cells via down-regulating cyclin D1. *Placenta* 33, 824–829.
- DALLAIRE, A. & SIMARD, M. J. (2016). The implication of microRNAs and endo-siRNAs in animal germline and early development. *Developmental Biology* 416, 18–25.
- DAMESTOY, A., PERRARD, M. H., VIGIER, M., SABIDO, O. & DURAND, P. (2005). Transforming growth factor beta-1 decreases the yield of the second meiotic division of rat pachytene spermatocytes in vitro. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* **3**, 22.
- DE MATEO, S. & SASSONE-CORSI, P. (2014). Regulation of spermatogenesis by small non-coding RNAs: role of the germ granule. *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology* 29, 84–92.
- DENG, S., ZHANG, Y., XU, C. & MA, D. (2015). MicroRNA-125b-2 overexpression represses ectodermal differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* 36, 355–362.
- DIEHL, P., FRICKE, A., SANDER, L., STAMM, J., BASSLER, N., HTUN, N., ZIEMANN, M., HELBING, T., EL-OSTA, A., JOWETT, J. B. M. & PETER, K. (2012). Microparticles: major transport vehicles for distinct microRNAs in circulation. *Cardiovascular Research* 93, 633–644.
- DIOR, U. P., KOGAN, L., CHILL, H. H., EIZENBERG, N., SIMON, A. & REVEL, A. (2014). Emerging roles of microRNA in the embryo-endometrium cross talk. *Seminars in Reproductive Medicine* 32, 402–409.
- DONADEU, F. X., MOHAMMED, B. T. & IOANNIDIS, J. (2017). A miRNA target network putatively involved in follicular atresia. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 58, 76–83.
- DONADEU, F. X. & SCHAUER, S. N. (2013). Differential miRNA expression between equine ovulatory and anovulatory follicles. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 45, 122–125.
- DONADEU, F. X., SCHAUER, S. N. & SONTAKKE, S. D. (2012). Involvement of miRNAs in ovarian follicular and luteal development. *Journal of Endocrinology* 215, 323–334.
- EGGERS, S., OHNESORG, T. & SINCLAIR, A. (2014). Genetic regulation of mammalian gonad development. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology* 10, 673–683.
- EGUCHI, T., WATANABE, K., HARA, E. S., ONO, M., KUBOKI, T. & CALDERWOOD, S. K. (2013). OstemiR: a novel panel of microRNA biomarkers in osteoblastic and osteocytic differentiation from mesencymal stem cells. *PLoS One* 8, e58796.
- FIEDLER, S. D., CARLETTI, M. Z., HONG, X. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2008). Hormonal regulation of MicroRNA expression in periovulatory mouse mural granulosa cells. *Biology of Reproduction* 79, 1030–1037.
- FU, G., YE, G., NADEEM, L., JI, L., MANCHANDA, T., WANG, Y., ZHAO, Y., QIAO, J., WANG, Y. L., LYE, S., YANG, B. B. & PENG, C. (2013). MicroRNA-376c impairs transforming growth factor-beta and nodal signaling to promote trophoblast cell proliferation and invasion. *Hypertension* **61**, 864–872.
- FU, S., FEI, Q., JIANG, H., CHUAI, S., SHI, S., XIONG, W., JIANG, L., LU, C., ATADJA, P., LI, E. & SHOU, J. (2011). Involvement of histone acetylation of Sox17 and Foxa2 promoters during mouse definitive endoderm differentiation revealed by microRNA profiling. *PLoS One* 6, e27965.
- GALLIANO, D. & PELLICER, A. (2014). MicroRNA and implantation. *Fertility and Sterility* **101**, 1531–1544.
- GAO, W. L., LIU, M., YANG, Y., YANG, H., LIAO, Q., BAI, Y., LI, Y. X., LI, D., PENG, C. & WANG, Y. L. (2012). The imprinted H19 gene regulates human placental trophoblast cell proliferation via encoding miR-675 that targets nodal modulator 1 (NOMO1). *RNA Biology* 9, 1002–1010.
- GARCIA-LOPEZ, J., ALONSO, L., CARDENAS, D. B., ARTAZA-ALVAREZ, H., HOURCADE JDE, D., MARTINEZ, S., BRIENO-ENRIQUEZ, M. A. & DEL MAZO, J. (2015). Diversity and functional convergence of small noncoding RNAs in male germ cell differentiation and fertilization. RNA 21, 946–962.
- GEBREMEDHN, S., SALILEW-WONDIM, D., AHMAD, I., SAHADEVAN, S., HOSSAIN, M. M., HOELKER, M., RINGS, F., NEUHOFF, C., THOLEN, E., LOOFT, C., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2015). MicroRNA expression profile in bovine granulosa cells of Preovulatory dominant and subordinate follicles during the late follicular phase of the estrous cycle. *PLoS One* **10**, e0125912.
- GHORBIAN, S. (2012). Micro-RNAs, next-generation molecular markers in male infertility field. *Translational Andrology and Urology* 1, 245–246.
- GILL, J. G., LANGER, E. M., LINDSLEY, R. C., CAI, M., MURPHY, T. L., KYBA, M. & MURPHY, K. M. (2011). Snail and the microRNA-200 family act in opposition to regulate epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and germ layer fate restriction in differentiating ESCs. *Stem Cells* 29, 764–776.

- GOLESTANEH, N., BEAUCHAMP, E., FALLEN, S., KOKKINAKI, M., UREN, A. & DYM, M. (2009). What signaling promotes proliferation and stemness regulation of spermatogonial stem/progenitor cells. *Reproduction* **138**, 151–162.
- GONZALEZ, G. & BEHRINGER, R. R. (2009). Dicer is required for female reproductive tract development and fertility in the mouse. *Molecular Reproduction & Development* 76, 678–688.
- GREENLEE, A. R., SHIAO, M. S., SNYDER, E., BUAAS, F. W., GU, T., STEARNS, T. M., SHARMA, M., MURCHISON, E. P., PUENTE, G. C. & BRAUN, R. E. (2012). Deregulated sex chromosome gene expression with male germ cell-specific loss of Dicer1. *PLoS One* 7, e46359.
- GU, K.-L., ZHANG, Q., YAN, Y., LI, T.-T., DUAN, F.-F., HAO, J., WANG, X.-W., SHI, M., WU, D.-R., GUO, W.-T. & WANG, Y. (2016). Pluripotency-associated miR-290/302 family of microRNAs promote the dismantling of naive pluripotency. *Cell Research* 26, 350–366.
- GUAN, Y., LIANG, G., HAWKEN, P. A. R., MALECKI, I. A., COZENS, G., VERCOE, P. E., MARTIN, G. B. & GUAN, L. L. (2015). Roles of small RNAs in the effects of nutrition on apoptosis and spermatogenesis in the adult testis. *Scientific Reports* 5, 10372.
- GUO, W., GAO, Y., LI, N., SHAO, F., WANG, C., WANG, P., YANG, Z., LI, R. & HE, J. (2017). Exosomes: new players in cancer. *Oncology Reports* 38, 665–675.
- HADJIMICHAEL, C., NIKOLAOU, C., PAPAMATHEAKIS, J. & KRETSOVALI, A. (2016). MicroRNAs for fine-tuning of mouse embryonic stem cell fate decision through regulation of TGF- $\beta$  signaling. *Stem Cell Reports* **6**, 292–301.
- HAMER, G., ROEPERS-GAJADIEN, H. L., VAN DUYN-GOEDHART, A., GADEMAN, I. S., KAL, H. B., VAN BUUL, P. P. & DE ROOIJ, D. G. (2003). DNA double-strand breaks and gamma-H2AX signaling in the testis. *Biology of Reproduction* 68, 628–634.
- HASUWA, H., UEDA, J., IKAWA, M. & OKABE, M. (2013). miR-200b and miR-429 function in mouse ovulation and are essential for female fertility. *Science* 341, 71–73.
- HAUSSER, J., SYED, A. P., BILEN, B. & ZAVOLAN, M. (2013). Analysis of CDS-located miRNA target sites suggests that they can effectively inhibit translation. *Genome Research* 23, 604–615.
- HAYASHI, K., CHUVA DE SOUSA LOPES, S. M., KANEDA, M., TANG, F., HAJKOVA, P., LAO, K., O'CARROLL, D., DAS, P. P., TARAKHOVSKY, A., MISKA, E. A. & SURANI, M. A. (2008). MicroRNA biogenesis is required for mouse primordial germ cell development and spermatogenesis. *PLoS One* 3, e1738.
- HE, Z., JIANG, J., KOKKINAKI, M., TANG, L., ZENG, W., GALLICANO, I., DOBRINSKI, I. & DYM, M. (2013). MiRNA-20 and mirna-106a regulate spermatogonial stem cell renewal at the post-transcriptional level via targeting STAT3 and Ccnd1. *Stem Cells* 31, 2205–2217.
- HEMBERGER, M., DEAN, W. & REIK, W. (2009). Epigenetic dynamics of stem cells and cell lineage commitment: digging Waddington's canal. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* **10**, 526–537.
- HILZ, S., MODZELEWSKI, A. J., COHEN, P. E. & GRIMSON, A. (2016). The roles of microRNAs and siRNAs in mammalian spermatogenesis. *Development* 143, 3061–3073.
- HINTON, A., AFRIKANOVA, I., WILSON, M., KING, C. C., MAURER, B., YEO, G. W., HAYEK, A. & PASQUINELLI, A. E. (2010). A distinct microRNA signature for definitive endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells and Development* 19, 797–807.
- HIROKI, E., AKAHIRA, J., SUZUKI, F., NAGASE, S., ITO, K., SUZUKI, T., SASANO, H. & YAEGASHI, N. (2010). Changes in microRNA expression levels correlate with clinicopathological features and prognoses in endometrial serous adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Science* 101, 241–249.
- HONG, X., LUENSE, L. J., MCGINNIS, L. K., NOTHNICK, W. B. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2008). Dicerl is essential for female fertility and normal development of the female reproductive system. *Endocrinology* 149, 6207–6212.
- HOSSAIN, M. M., GHANEM, N., HOELKER, M., RINGS, F., PHATSARA, C., THOLEN, E., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2009). Identification and characterization of miRNAs expressed in the bovine ovary. *BMC Genomics* 10, 443.
- HOSSAIN, M. M., SALILEW-WONDIM, D., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2012a). The role of microRNAs in mammalian oocytes and embryos. *Animal Reproduction Science* 134, 36–44.
- HOSSAIN, M. M., SOHEL, M. M., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2012b). Characterization and importance of microRNAs in mammalian gonadal functions. *Cell and Tissue Research* 349, 679–690.
- HU, S. J., REN, G., LIU, J. L., ZHAO, Z. A., YU, Y. S., SU, R. W., MA, X. H., NI, H., LEI, W. & YANG, Z. M. (2008). MicroRNA expression and regulation in mouse uterus during embryo implantation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283, 23473–23484.
- HU, Z., SHEN, W. J., CORTEZ, Y., TANG, X., LIU, L. F., KRAEMER, F. B. & AZHAR, S. (2013). Hormonal regulation of microRNA expression in steroid producing cells of the ovary, testis and adrenal gland. *PLoS One* 8, e78040.
- HUSZAR, J. M. & PAYNE, C. J. (2013). MicroRNA 146 (Mir146) modulates spermatogonial differentiation by retinoic acid in mice. *Biology of Reproduction* 88(15), 1-10.

- INYAWILERT, W., FU, T. Y., LIN, C. T. & TANG, P. C. (2015). Let-7-mediated suppression of mucin 1 expression in the mouse uterus during embryo implantation. *Journal of Reproduction and Development* 61, 138–144.
- IWAMUNE, M., NAKAMURA, K., KITAHARA, Y. & MINEGISHI, T. (2014). MicroRNA-376a regulates 78-kilodalton glucose-regulated protein expression in rat granulosa cells. *PLoS One* 9, e108997.
- JIMENEZ, P. T., MAINIGI, M. A., WORD, R. A., KRAUS, W. L. & MENDELSON, C. R. (2016). miR-200 regulates endometrial development during early pregnancy. *Molecular Endocrinology* **30**, 977–987.
- JING, S., WEN, D., YU, Y., HOLST, P. L., LUO, Y., FANG, M., TAMIR, R., ANTONIO, L., HU, Z., CUPPLES, R., LOUIS, J. C., HU, S., ALTROCK, B. W. & FOX, G. M. (1996). GDNF-induced activation of the ret protein tyrosine kinase is mediated by GDNFR-alpha, a novel receptor for GDNF. *Cell* **85**, 1113–1124.
- KANG, M., YAN, L. M., ZHANG, W. Y., LI, Y. M., TANG, A. Z. & OU, H. S. (2013). Role of microRNA-21 in regulating 3T3-L1 adipocyte differentiation and adiponectin expression. *Molecular Biology Reports* 40, 5027–5034.
- KANG, Y. J., LEES, M., MATTHEWS, L. C., KIMBER, S. J., FORBES, K. & APLIN, J. D. (2015). MiR-145 suppresses embryo-epithelial juxtacrine communication at implantation by modulating maternal IGF1R. *Journal of Cell Science* **128**, 804–814.
- KARAKAYA, C., GUZELOGLU-KAYISLI, O., UYAR, A., KALLEN, A. N., BABAYEV, E., BOZKURT, N., UNSAL, E., KARABACAK, O. & SELI, E. (2015). Poor ovarian response in women undergoing in vitro fertilization is associated with altered microRNA expression in cumulus cells. *Fertility and Sterility* **103**, 1469–1476.c3.
- KORHONEN, H. M., MEIKAR, O., YADAV, R. P., PAPAIOANNOU, M. D., ROMERO, Y., DA ROS, M., HERRERA, P. L., TOPPARI, J., NEF, S. & KOTAJA, N. (2011). Dicer is required for haploid male germ cell differentiation in mice. *PLoS One* 6, e24821.
- KORHONEN, H. M., YADAV, R. P., DA ROS, M., CHALMEL, F., ZIMMERMANN, C., TOPPARI, J., NEF, S. & KOTAJA, N. (2015). DICER regulates the formation and maintenance of cell-cell junctions in the mouse seminiferous epithelium. *Biology of Reproduction* **93**, 1391–1313.
- KOSTEREVA, N. & HOFMANN, M. C. (2008). Regulation of the Spermatogonial stem cell niche. *Reproduction in Domestic Animal* 43, 386–392.
- KOTA, J., CHIVUKULA, R. R., O'DONNELL, K. A., WENTZEL, E. A., MONTGOMERY, C. L., HWANG, H. W., CHANG, T. C., VIVEKANANDAN, P., TORBENSON, M., CLARK, K. R., MENDELL, J. R. & MENDELL, J. T. (2009). Therapeutic microRNA delivery suppresses tumorigenesis in a murine liver cancer model. *Cell* **137**, 1005–1017.
- KOTAJA, N. (2014). MicroRNAs and spermatogenesis. Fertility and Sterility 101, 1552–1562.
- KRAWETZ, S. A., KRUGER, A., LALANCETTE, C., TAGETT, R., ANTON, E., DRAGHICI, S. & DIAMOND, M. P. (2011). A survey of small RNAs in human sperm. *Human Reproduction* 26, 3401–3412.
- LEE, J., KANATSU-SHINOHARA, M., INOUE, K., OGONUKI, N., MIKI, H., TOYOKUNI, S., KIMURA, T., NAKANO, T., OGURA, A. & SHINOHARA, T. (2007). Akt mediates self-renewal division of mouse spermatogonial stem cells. *Development* 134, 1853–1859.
- LEE, S. H., CHEN, T. Y., DHAR, S. S., GU, B., CHEN, K., KIM, Y. Z., LI, W. & LEE, M. G. (2016). A feedback loop comprising PRMT7 and miR-24-2 interplays with Oct4, Nanog, Klf4 and c-Myc to regulate stemness. *Nucleic Acids Research* 44, 10603–10618.
- LEI, L., JIN, S., GONZALEZ, G., BEHRINGER, R. R. & WOODRUFF, T. K. (2010). The regulatory role of Dicer in folliculogenesis in mice. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 315, 63–73.
- LEWIS, B. P., BURGE, C. B. & BARTEL, D. P. (2005). Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. *Cell* **120**, 15–20.
- LI, C., CHEN, C., CHEN, L., CHEN, S., LI, H., ZHAO, Y., RAO, J. & ZHOU, X. (2016a). BDNF-induced expansion of cumulus-oocyte complexes in pigs was mediated by microRNA-205. *Theriogenology* 85, 1476–1482.
- LI, C., CHEN, S., LI, H., CHEN, L., ZHAO, Y., JIANG, Y., LIU, Z., LIU, Y., GAO, S., WANG, F., YU, J., WANG, H., RAO, J. & ZHOU, X. (2016b). MicroRNA-16 modulates melatonin-induced cell growth in the mouse-derived spermatogonia cell line GC-1 spg cells by targeting Ccnd1. *Biology of Reproduction* 95(57), 1–10.
- LI, P., GUO, W., DU, L., ZHAO, J., WANG, Y., LIU, L., HU, Y. & HOU, Y. (2013). microRNA-29b contributes to pre-eclampsia through its effects on apoptosis, invasion and angiogenesis of trophoblast cells. *Clinical Science* 124, 27–40.
- LI, R., QIAO, J., WANG, L., LI, L., ZHEN, X., LIU, P. & ZHENG, X. (2011). MicroRNA array and microarray evaluation of endometrial receptivity in patients with high serum progesterone levels on the day of hCG administration. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 9, 29.
- LI, Y., FANG, Y., LIU, Y. & YANG, X. (2015). MicroRNAs in ovarian function and disorders. *Journal of Ovarian Research* 8, 51.
- LIAN, J., TIAN, H., LIU, L., ZHANG, X. S., LI, W. Q., DENG, Y. M., YAO, G. D., YIN, M. M. & SUN, F. (2010). Downregulation of microRNA-383 is associated with male infertility and promotes testicular embryonal carcinoma cell proliferation by targeting IRF1. *Cell Death and Disease* 1, e94.
- LIANG, Y., RIDZON, D., WONG, L. & CHEN, C. (2007). Characterization of microRNA expression profiles in normal human tissues. *BMC Genomics* 8, 166.

- LIN, F., LI, R., PAN, Z. X., ZHOU, B., YU, D. B., WANG, X. G., MA, X. S., HAN, J., SHEN, M. & LIU, H. L. (2012). miR-26b promotes granulosa cell apoptosis by targeting ATM during follicular atresia in porcine ovary. *PLoS One* 7, e38640.
- LING, X., BAO-FENG, Y. & JING, A. (2013). MicroRNA transport: a new way in cell communication. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 228, 1713–1719.
- LIU, H. C., TANG, Y., HE, Z. & ROSENWAKS, Z. (2010). Dicer is a key player in oocyte maturation. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 27, 571–580.
- LIU, J., DU, X., ZHOU, J., PAN, Z., LIU, H. & LI, Q. (2014). MicroRNA-26b functions as a proapoptotic factor in porcine follicular granulosa cells by targeting Sma-and mad-related protein 4. *Biology of Reproduction* 91(146), 1–12.
- LIU, J. L. & YANG, Z. M. (2011). Non-coding RNAs and embryo implantation. Frontiers in Bioscience (Elite Ed) 3, 1092–1099.
- LIU, W., NIU, Z., LI, Q., PANG, R. T., CHIU, P. C. & YEUNG, W. S. (2016). MicroRNA and embryo implantation. American Journal of Reproductive Immunology 75, 263–271.
- LIU, W. M., PANG, R. T., CHIU, P. C., WONG, B. P., LAO, K., LEE, K. F. & YEUNG, W. S. (2012). Sperm-borne microRNA-34c is required for the first cleavage division in mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Scienes ot the United States of America* 109, 490–494.
- LIU, Y., NIU, M., YAO, C., HAI, Y., YUAN, Q., LIU, Y., GUO, Y., LI, Z. & HE, Z. (2015). Fractionation of human spermatogenic cells using STA-PUT gravity sedimentation and their miRNA profiling. *Scientific Reports* 5, 8084.
- LU, Y., THOMSON, J. M., WONG, H. Y., HAMMOND, S. M. & HOGAN, B. L. (2007). Transgenic over-expression of the microRNA miR-17-92 cluster promotes proliferation and inhibits differentiation of lung epithelial progenitor cells. *Developmental Biology* **310**, 442–453.
- LUENSE, L. J., CARLETTI, M. Z. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2009). Role of Dicer in female fertility. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 20, 265–272.
- LUENSE, L. J., VEIGA-LOPEZ, A., PADMANABHAN, V. & CHRISTENSON, L. K. (2011). Developmental programming: gestational testosterone treatment alters fetal ovarian gene expression. *Endocrinology* 152, 4974–4983.
- LUO, L., YE, G., NADEEM, L., FU, G., YANG, B. B., HONARPARVAR, E., DUNK, C., LYE, S. & PENG, C. (2012). MicroRNA-378a-5p promotes trophoblast cell survival, migration and invasion by targeting nodal. *Journal of Cell Science* **125**, 3124–3132.
- LUO, L., YE, L., LIU, G., SHAO, G., ZHENG, R., REN, Z., ZUO, B., XU, D., LEI, M., JIANG, S., DENG, C., XIONG, Y. & LI, F. (2010). Microarray-based approach identifies differentially expressed microRNAs in porcine sexually immature and mature testes. *PLoS One* 5, e11744.
- LUO, L. F., HOU, C. C. & YANG, W. X. (2016). Small non-coding RNAs and their associated proteins in spermatogenesis. *Gene* 578, 141–157.
- LUO, M., HAO, L., HU, F., DONG, Y., GOU, L., ZHANG, W., WANG, X., ZHAO, Y., JIA, M., HU, S. & ZHANG, X. (2015a). MicroRNA profiles and potential regulatory pattern during the early stage of spermatogenesis in mice. *Science China Life Sciences* 58, 442–450.
- LUO, Z., LIU, Y., CHEN, L., ELLIS, M., LI, M., WANG, J., ZHANG, Y., FU, P., WANG, K., LI, X. & WANG, L. (2015b). microRNA profiling in three main stages during porcine spermatogenesis. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 32, 451–460.
- MA, C., SONG, H., YU, L., GUAN, K., HU, P., LI, Y., XIA, X., LI, J., JIANG, S. & LI, F. (2016a). miR-762 promotes porcine immature Sertoli cell growth via the ring finger protein 4 (RNF4) gene. *Scientific Reports* 6, 32783.
- MA, H., LIN, Y., ZHAO, Z. A., LU, X., YU, Y., ZHANG, X., WANG, Q. & LI, L. (2016b). MicroRNA-127 promotes mesendoderm differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells by targeting left-right determination factor 2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 291, 12126–12135.
- MA, H. L., GONG, F., TANG, Y., LI, X., LI, X., YANG, X. & LU, G. (2015). Inhibition of endometrial Tiam1/Rac1 signals induced by miR-22 up-regulation leads to the failure of embryo implantation during the implantation window in pregnant mice. *Biology of Reproduction* 92(152), 1–13.
- MA, T., JIANG, H., GAO, Y., ZHAO, Y., DAI, L., XIONG, Q., XU, Y., ZHAO, Z. & ZHANG, J. (2011). Microarray analysis of differentially expressed microRNAs in non-regressed and regressed bovine corpus luteum tissue; microRNA-378 may suppress luteal cell apoptosis by targeting the interferon gamma receptor 1 gene. *Journal of Applied Genetics* 52, 481–486.
- MA, W., XIE, S., NI, M., HUANG, X., HU, S., LIU, Q., LIU, A., ZHANG, J. & ZHANG, Y. (2012). MicroRNA-29a inhibited epididymal epithelial cell proliferation by targeting nuclear autoantigenic sperm protein (NASP). *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 10189–10199.
- MAATOUK, D. M., LOVELAND, K. L., MCMANUS, M. T., MOORE, K. & HARFE, B. D. (2008). Dicer1 is required for differentiation of the mouse male germline. *Biology* of *Reproduction* **79**, 696–703.
- MARCON, E., BABAK, T., CHUA, G., HUGHES, T. & MOENS, P. B. (2008). miRNA and piRNA localization in the male mammalian meiotic nucleus. *Chromosome Research* 16, 243–260.
- MARSON, A., LEVINE, S. S., COLE, M. F., FRAMPTON, G. M., BRAMBRINK, T., JOHNSTONE, S., GUENTHER, M. G., JOHNSTON, W. K., WERNIG, M., NEWMAN, J., CALABRESE, J. M., DENNIS, L. M., VOLKERT, T. L., GUPTA, S., LOVE, J., HANNETT, N., SHARP, P. A., BARTEL, D. P., JAENISCH, R. & YOUNG, R. A. (2008). Connecting microRNA genes to the core transcriptional regulatory circuitry of embryonic stem cells. *Cell* **134**, 521–533.

Biological Reviews 94 (2019) 415-438 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- MCBRIDE, D., CARRE, W., SONTAKKE, S. D., HOGG, C. O., LAW, A., DONADEU, F. X. & CLINTON, M. (2012). Identification of miRNAs associated with the follicular-luteal transition in the ruminant ovary. *Reproduction* **144**, 221–233.
- MCIVER, S. C., ROMAN, S. D., NIXON, B. & MCLAUGHLIN, E. A. (2012a). miRNA and mammalian male germ cells. *Human Reproduction Update* 18, 44–59.
- MCIVER, S. C., STANGER, S. J., SANTARELLI, D. M., ROMAN, S. D., NIXON, B. & MCLAUGHLIN, E. A. (2012b). A unique combination of male germ cell miRNAs coordinates gonocyte differentiation. *PLoS One* 7, e35553.
- MEDEIROS, L. A., DENNIS, L. M., GILL, M. E., HOUBAVIY, H., MARKOULAKI, S., FU, D., WHITE, A. C., KIRAK, O., SHARP, P. A., PAGE, D. C. & JAENISCH, R. (2011). Mir-290-295 deficiency in mice results in partially penetrant embryonic lethality and germ cell defects. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 14163–14168.
- MENON, B., SINDEN, J., FRANZO-ROMAIN, M., BOTTA, R. B. & MENON, K. M. (2013). Regulation of LH receptor mRNA binding protein by miR-122 in rat ovaries. *Endocrinology* **154**, 4826–4834.
- MESSINA, A. & PREVOT, V. (2017). Hypothalamic microRNAs flip the switch for fertility. Oncotarget 8, 8993–8994.
- MEUNIER, L., SIDDEEK, B., VEGA, A., LAKHDARI, N., INOUBLI, L., BELLON, R. P., LEMAIRE, G., MAUDUIT, C. & BENAHMED, M. (2012). Perinatal programming of adult rat germ cell death after exposure to xenoestrogens: role of microRNA miR-29 family in the down-regulation of DNA methyltransferases and Mcl-1. *Endocrinology* 153, 1936–1947.
- MODZELEWSKI, A. J., HILZ, S., CRATE, E. A., SCHWEIDENBACK, C. T., FOGARTY, E. A., GRENIER, J. K., FREIRE, R., COHEN, P. E. & GRIMSON, A. (2015). Dgcr8 and Dicer are essential for sex chromosome integrity during meiosis in males. *Journal of Cell Science* 128, 2314–2327.
- MOGILYANSKY, E. & RIGOUTSOS, I. (2013). The miR-17/92 cluster: a comprehensive update on its genomics, genetics, functions and increasingly important and numerous roles in health and disease. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **20**, 1603–1614.
- MORENO-MOYA, J. M., VILELLA, F., MARTINEZ, S., PELLICER, A. & SIMON, C. (2014). The transcriptomic and proteomic effects of ectopic overexpression of miR-30d in human endometrial epithelial cells. *Molecular Human Reproduction* 20, 550–566.
- MORITOKI, Y., HAYASHI, Y., MIZUNO, K., KAMISAWA, H., NISHIO, H., KUROKAWA, S., UGAWA, S., KOJIMA, Y. & KOHRI, K. (2014). Expression profiling of microRNA in cryptorchid testes: miR-135a contributes to the maintenance of spermatogonial stem cells by regulating FoxO1. *The Journal of Urology* **191**, 1174–1180.
- MURCHISON, E. P., STEIN, P., XUAN, Z., PAN, H., ZHANG, M. Q., SCHULTZ, R. M. & HANNON, G. J. (2007). Critical roles for Dicer in the female germline. *Genes & Development* 21, 682–693.
- NAUGHTON, C. K., JAIN, S., STRICKLAND, A. M., GUPTA, A. & MILBRANDT, J. (2006). Glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor-mediated RET signaling regulates spermatogonial stem cell fate. *Biology of Reproduction* 74, 314–321.
- NICHOLLS, P. K., HARRISON, C. A., WALTON, K. L., MCLACHLAN, R. I., O'DONNELL, L. & STANTON, P. G. (2011). Hormonal regulation of sertoli cell micro-RNAs at spermiation. *Endocrinology* 152, 1670–1683.
- NIE, M., YU, S., PENG, S., FANG, Y., WANG, H. & YANG, X. (2015). miR-23a and miR-27a promote human granulosa cell apoptosis by targeting SMAD5. *Biology of Reproduction* 93, 98, 1–10.
- NIU, Z., GOODYEAR, S. M., RAO, S., WU, X., TOBIAS, J. W., AVARBOCK, M. R. & BRINSTER, R. L. (2011). MicroRNA-21 regulates the self-renewal of mouse spermatogonial stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 12740–12745.
- NIXON, B., STANGER, S. J., MIHALAS, B. P., REILLY, J. N., ANDERSON, A. L., DUN, M. D., TYAGI, S., HOLT, J. E. & MCLAUGHLIN, E. A. (2015a). Next generation sequencing analysis reveals segmental patterns of microRNA expression in mouse epididymal epithelial cells. *PLoS One* **10**, e0135605.
- NIXON, B., STANGER, S. J., MIHALAS, B. P., REILLY, J. N., ANDERSON, A. L., TYAGI, S., HOLT, J. E. & MCLAUGHLIN, E. A. (2015b). The microRNA signature of mouse spermatozoa is substantially modified during epididymal maturation. *Biology* of *Reproduction* 93(91), 1–20.
- NOTHNICK, W. B. (2012). The role of micro-RNAs in the female reproductive tract. *Reproduction* **143**, 559–576.
- NOVOTNY, G. W., SONNE, S. B., NIELSEN, J. E., JONSTRUP, S. P., HANSEN, M. A., SKAKKEBAEK, N. E., RAJPERT-DE MEYTS, E., KJEMS, J. & LEFFERS, H. (2007). Translational repression of E2F1 mRNA in carcinoma in situ and normal testis correlates with expression of the miR-17-92 cluster. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 14, 879–882.
- OATLEY, J. M., AVARBOCK, M. R. & BRINSTER, R. L. (2007). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor regulation of genes essential for self-renewal of mouse spermatogonial stem cells is dependent on Src family kinase signaling. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry* 282, 25842–25851.
- OHINATA, Y., PAYER, B., O'CARROLL, D., ANCELIN, K., ONO, Y., SANO, M., BARTON, S. C., OBUKHANYCH, T., NUSSENZWEIG, M., TARAKHOVSKY, A., SAITOU, M. & SURANI, M. A. (2005). Blimp1 is a critical determinant of the germ cell lineage in mice. *Nature* 436, 207–213.

- OTSUKA, M., ZHENG, M., HAYASHI, M., LEE, J. D., YOSHINO, O., LIN, S. & HAN, J. (2008). Impaired microRNA processing causes corpus luteum insufficiency and infertility in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **118**, 1944–1954.
- PANNEERDOSS, S., CHANG, Y. F., BUDDAVARAPU, K. C., CHEN, H. I., SHETTY, G., WANG, H., CHEN, Y., KUMAR, T. R. & RAO, M. K. (2012). Androgen-responsive microRNAs in mouse Sertoli cells. *PLoS One* 7, e41146.
- PAPAIOANNOU, M. D., PITETTI, J. L., RO, S., PARK, C., AUBRY, F., SCHAAD, O., VEJNAR, C. E., KUHNE, F., DESCOMBES, P., ZDOBNOV, E. M., MCMANUS, M. T., GUILLOU, F., HARFE, B. D., YAN, W., JEGOU, B. & NEF, S. (2009). Sertoli cell Dicer is essential for spermatogenesis in mice. *Developmental Biology* **326**, 250–259.
- PINELES, B. L., ROMERO, R., MONTENEGRO, D., TARCA, A. L., HAN, Y. M., KIM, Y. M., DRAGHICI, S., ESPINOZA, J., KUSANOVIC, J. P., MITTAL, P., HASSAN, S. S. & KIM, C. J. (2007). Distinct subsets of microRNAs are expressed differentially in the human placentas of patients with preeclampsia. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Cynecology* 196, 261.e1–261.e6.
- QIN, X., YAN, L., ZHAO, X., LI, C. & FU, Y. (2012). microRNA-21 overexpression contributes to cell proliferation by targeting PTEN in endometrioid endometrial cancer. *Oncology Letters* 4, 1290–1296.
- QING, X., SHI, J., DONG, T., WU, C., HU, L. & LI, H. (2017). Dysregulation of an X-linked primate-specific epididymal microRNA cluster in unexplained asthenozoospermia. *Oncotarget* 8, 56839–56849.
- RAKOCZY, J., FERNANDEZ-VALVERDE, S. L., GLAZOV, E. A., WAINWRIGHT, E. N., SATO, T., TAKADA, S., COMBES, A. N., KORBIE, D. J., MILLER, D., GRIMMOND, S. M., LITTLE, M. H., ASAHARA, H., MATTICK, J. S., TAFT, R. J. & WILHELM, D. (2013). MicroRNAs-140-5pr/140-3p modulate Leydig cell numbers in the developing mouse testis. *Biology of Reproduction* 88(143), 1–11.
- REILLY, J. N., MCLAUGHLIN, E. A., STANGER, S. J., ANDERSON, A. L., HUTCHEON, K., CHURCH, K., MIHALAS, B. P., TYAGI, S., HOLT, J. E., EAMENS, A. L. & NIXON, B. (2016). Characterisation of mouse epididymosomes reveals a complex profile of microRNAs and a potential mechanism for modification of the sperm epigenome. *Scientific Reports* 6, 31794.
- REZA, A., CHO, S. K., CHOI, Y. J., HONG, K. & KIM, J. H. (2018a). Microarray profiling of miRNA and mRNA expression in Rag2 knockout and wild-type mouse spleens. *Scientific Data* 5, 170199.
- REZA, A., CHOI, Y.-J. & KIM, J.-H. (2018b). MicroRNA and transcriptomic profiling showed miRNA-dependent impairment of systemic regulation and synthesis of biomolecules in Rag2 KO mice. *Molecules* 23, 527.
- REZA, A., CHOI, Y. J., YUAN, Y. G., DAS, J., YASUDA, H. & KIM, J. H. (2017). MicroRNA-7641 is a regulator of ribosomal proteins and a promising targeting factor to improve the efficacy of cancer therapy. *Scientific Reports* 7, 8365.
- REZA, A. M., CHOI, Y. J., YASUDA, H. & KIM, J. H. (2016). Human adipose mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal-miRNAs are critical factors for inducing anti-proliferation signalling to A2780 and SKOV-3 ovarian cancer cells. *Scientific Reports* 6, 38498.
- Ro, S., PARK, C., SANDERS, K. M., MCCARREY, J. R. & YAN, W. (2007). Cloning and expression profiling of testis-expressed microRNAs. *Developmental Biology* 311, 592–602.
- ROBERTSON, E. J., CHARATSI, I., JOYNER, C. J., KOONCE, C. H., MORGAN, M., ISLAM, A., PATERSON, C., LEJSEK, E., ARNOLD, S. J., KALLIES, A., NUTT, S. L. & BIKOFF, E. K. (2007). Blimp1 regulates development of the posterior forelimb, caudal pharyngeal arches, heart and sensory vibrissae in mice. *Development* 134, 4335–4345.
- ROMERO, Y., MEIKAR, O., PAPAIOANNOU, M. D., CONNE, B., GREY, C., WEIER, M., PRALONG, F., DE MASSY, B., KAESSMANN, H., VASSALLI, J. D., KOTAJA, N. & NEF, S. (2011). Dicer1 depletion in male germ cells leads to infertility due to cumulative meiotic and spermiogenic defects. *PLoS One* 6, e25241.
- ROTH, L. W., MCCALLIE, B., ALVERO, R., SCHOOLCRAFT, W. B., MINJAREZ, D. & KATZ-JAFFE, M. G. (2014). Altered microRNA and gene expression in the follicular fluid of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 31, 355–362.
- SAADELDIN, I. M., OH, H. J. & LEE, B. C. (2015). Embryonic-maternal cross-talk via exosomes: potential implications. Stem Cells and Cloning : Advances and Applications 8, 103–107.
- \*SALAS-HUETOS, A., BLANCO, J., VIDAL, F., MERCADER, J. M., GARRIDO, N. & ANTON, E. (2014). New insights into the expression profile and function of micro-ribonucleic acid in human spermatozoa. *Fertility and Sterility* **102**, 213–222.e4.
- SALILEW-WONDIM, D., AHMAD, I., GEBREMEDHN, S., SAHADEVAN, S., HOSSAIN, M. D., RINGS, F., HOELKER, M., THOLEN, E., NEUHOFF, C., LOOFT, C., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2014). The expression pattern of microRNAs in granulosa cells of subordinate and dominant follicles during the early luteal phase of the bovine estrous cycle. *PLoS One* 9, e106795.
- SANG, Q., YAO, Z., WANG, H., FENG, R., WANG, H., ZHAO, X., XING, Q., JIN, L., HE, L., WU, L. & WANG, L. (2013). Identification of microRNAs in human follicular fluid: characterization of microRNAs that govern steroidogenesis in vitro and are associated with polycystic ovary syndrome in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* & *Metabolism* 98, 3068–3079.
- Santonocito, M., Vento, M., Guglielmino, M. R., Battaglia, R., Wahlgren, J., Ragusa, M., Barbagallo, D., Borzi, P., Rizzari, S., Maugeri, M., Scollo,

P., TATONE, C., VALADI, H., PURRELLO, M. & DI PIETRO, C. (2014). Molecular characterization of exosomes and their microRNA cargo in human follicular fluid: bioinformatic analysis reveals that exosomal microRNAs control pathways involved in follicular maturation. *Fetility and Sterility* **102**, 1751–1761.e1.

- SCHAUER, S. N., SONTAKKE, S. D., WATSON, E. D., ESTEVES, C. L. & DONADEU, F. X. (2013). Involvement of miRNAs in equine follicle development. *Reproduction* 146, 273–282.
- SEN, A., PRIZANT, H., LIGHT, A., BISWAS, A., HAYES, E., LEE, H. J., BARAD, D., GLEICHER, N. & HAMMES, S. R. (2014). Androgens regulate ovarian follicular development by increasing follicle stimulating hormone receptor and microRNA-125b expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111, 3008–3013.
- SHEN, G., WU, R., LIU, B., DONG, W., TU, Z., YANG, J., XU, Z. & PAN, T. (2014). Upstream and downstream mechanisms for the promoting effects of IGF-1 on differentiation of spermatogonia to primary spermatocytes. *Life Sciences* 101, 49–55.
- SHEN, L. J., HE, J. L., YANG, D. H., DING, Y. B., CHEN, X. M., GENG, Y. Q., LIU, S. J., LIU, X. Q. & WANG, Y. X. (2013). Mmu-microRNA-200a overexpression leads to implantation defect by targeting phosphatase and tensin homolog in mouse uterus. *Reproductive Sciences* 20, 1518–1528.
- SHIH, J. W., WANG, L. Y., HUNG, C. L., KUNG, H. J. & HSIEH, C. L. (2015). Non-coding RNAs in castration-resistant prostate cancer: regulation of androgen receptor signaling and cancer metabolism. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16, 28943–28978.
- SIROTKIN, A. V., LAUKOVA, M., OVCHARENKO, D., BRENAUT, P. & MLYNCEK, M. (2010). Identification of microRNAs controlling human ovarian cell proliferation and apoptosis. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 223, 49–56.
- SIROTKIN, A. V., OVCHARENKO, D., GROSSMANN, R., LAUKOVA, M. & MLYNCEK, M. (2009). Identification of microRNAs controlling human ovarian cell steroidogenesis via a genome-scale screen. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 219, 415–420.
- SMORAG, L., ZHENG, Y., NOLTE, J., ZECHNER, U., ENGEL, W. & PANTAKANI, D. V. (2012). MicroRNA signature in various cell types of mouse spermatogenesis: evidence for stage-specifically expressed miRNA-221, -203 and -34b-5p mediated spermatogenesis regulation. *Biology of the Cell* **104**, 677-692.
- SOHEL, M. H. (2016). Extracellular/circulating microRNAs: release mechanisms, functions and challenges. Achievements in the Life Sciences 10, 175–186.
- SOHEL, M. M., HOELKER, M., NOFERESTI, S. S., SALILEW-WONDIM, D., THOLEN, E., LOOFT, C., RINGS, F., UDDIN, M. J., SPENCER, T. E., SCHELLANDER, K. & TESFAYE, D. (2013). Exosomal and non-exosomal transport of extra-cellular microRNAs in follicular fluid: implications for bovine oocyte developmental competence. *PLoS One* 8, e78505.
- SONG, C., YAO, J., CAO, C., LIANG, X., HUANG, J., HAN, Z., ZHANG, Y., QIN, G., TAO, C., LI, C., YANG, H., ZHAO, J., LI, K. & WANG, Y. (2016). PPARgamma is regulated by miR-27b-3p negatively and plays an important role in porcine oocyte maturation. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 479, 224–230.
- SONG, P. P., HU, Y., LIU, C. M., YAN, M. J., SONG, G., CUI, Y., XIA, H. F. & MA, X. (2011). Embryonic ectoderm development protein is regulated by microRNAs in human neural tube defects. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 204, 544.e9–544.c17.
- SONG, R., RO, S., MICHAELS, J. D., PARK, C., MCCARREY, J. R. & YAN, W. (2009). Many X-linked microRNAs escape meiotic sex chromosome inactivation. *Nature Genetics* 41, 488–493.
- SONG, W., MU, H., WU, J., LIAO, M., ZHU, H., ZHENG, L., HE, X., NIU, B., ZHAI, Y., BAI, C., LEI, A., LI, G. & HUA, J. (2015). miR-544 regulates dairy goat male germline stem cell self-renewal via targeting PLZF. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 116, 2155–2165.
- SONTAKKE, S. D., MOHAMMED, B. T., MCNEILLY, A. S. & DONADEU, F. X. (2014). Characterization of microRNAs differentially expressed during bovine follicle development. *Reproduction* **148**, 271–283.
- SOOD, P., KREK, A., ZAVOLAN, M., MACINO, G. & RAJEWSKY, N. (2006). Cell-type-specific signatures of microRNAs on target mRNA expression. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 2746–2751.
- SUH, N., BAEHNER, L., MOLTZAHN, F., MELTON, C., SHENOY, A., CHEN, J. & BLELLOCH, R. (2010). MicroRNA function is globally suppressed in mouse oocytes and early embryos. *Current Biology* **20**, 271–277.
- SUH, N. & BLELLOCH, R. (2011). Small RNAs in early mammalian development: from gametes to gastrulation. *Development* 138, 1653–1661.
- SUI, S., JIA, Y., HE, B., LI, R., LI, X., CAI, D., SONG, H., ZHANG, R. & ZHAO, R. (2014). Maternal low-protein diet alters ovarian expression of folliculogenic and steroidogenic genes and their regulatory microRNAs in neonatal piglets. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Science* 27, 1695–1704.
- SVOBODA, P. & FLEMR, M. (2010). The role of miRNAs and endogenous siRNAs in maternal-to-zygotic reprogramming and the establishment of pluripotency. *EMBO Reports* 11, 590–597.
- TAKADA, S., BEREZIKOV, E., CHOI, Y. L., YAMASHITA, Y. & MANO, H. (2009). Potential role of miR-29b in modulation of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b expression in primordial germ cells of female mouse embryos. *RNA* 15, 1507–1514.
- TANG, F., KANEDA, M., O'CARROLL, D., HAJKOVA, P., BARTON, S. C., SUN, Y. A., LEE, C., TARAKHOVSKY, A., LAO, K. & SURANI, M. A. (2007). Maternal

microRNAs are essential for mouse zygotic development. Genes & Development 21, 644-648.

- TENG, Y., WANG, Y., FU, J., CHENG, X., MIAO, S. & WANG, L. (2011). Cyclin T2: a novel miR-15a target gene involved in early spermatogenesis. *FEBS Letters* 585, 2493–2500.
- TESFAYE, D., WORKU, D., RINGS, F., PHATSARA, C., THOLEN, E., SCHELLANDER, K. & HOELKER, M. (2009). Identification and expression profiling of microRNAs during bovine oocyte maturation using heterologous approach. *Molecular Reproduction* & Development 76, 665–677.
- TOLOUBEYDOKHTI, T., BUKULMEZ, O. & CHEGINI, N. (2008). Potential regulatory functions of microRNAs in the ovary. Seminars in Reproductive Medicine 26, 469–478.
- TONG, M. H., MITCHELL, D., EVANOFF, R. & GRISWOLD, M. D. (2011). Expression of Mirlet7 family microRNAs in response to retinoic acid-induced spermatogonial differentiation in mice. *Biology of Reproduction* 85, 189–197.
- TONG, M. H., MITCHELL, D. A., MCGOWAN, S. D., EVANOFF, R. & GRISWOLD, M. D. (2012). Two miRNA clusters, Mir-17-92 (Mirc1) and Mir-106b-25 (Mirc3), are involved in the regulation of spermatogonial differentiation in mice. *Biology of Reproduction* 86(72), 1–10.
- TORLEY, K. J., DA SILVEIRA, J. C., SMITH, P., ANTHONY, R. V., VEERAMACHANENI, D. N., WINGER, Q. A. & BOUMA, G. J. (2011). Expression of miRNAs in ovine fetal gonads: potential role in gonadal differentiation. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 9, 2.
- TRIPURANI, S. K., XIAO, C., SALEM, M. & YAO, J. (2010). Cloning and analysis of fetal ovary microRNAs in cattle. *Animal Reproduction Science* 120, 16–22.
- TSCHERNER, A., GILCHRIST, G., SMITH, N., BLONDIN, P., GILLIS, D. & LAMARRE, J. (2014). MicroRNA-34 family expression in bovine gametes and preimplantation embryos. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 12, 85.
- TU, F., PAN, Z. X., YAO, Y., LIU, H. L., LIU, S. R., XIE, Z. & LI, Q. F. (2014). miR-34a targets the inhibin beta B gene, promoting granulosa cell apoptosis in the porcine ovary. *Genetic and Molecular Research* 13, 2504–2512.
- TULAY, P., NAJA, R. P., CASCALES-ROMAN, O., DOSHI, A., SERHAL, P. & SENGUPTA, S. B. (2015). Investigation of microRNA expression and DNA repair gene transcripts in human oocytes and blastocysts. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 32, 1757–1764.
- TURCATEL, G., RUBIN, N., EL-HASHASH, A. & WARBURTON, D. (2012). MIR-99a and MIR-99b modulate TGF- $\beta$  induced epithelial to mesenchymal plasticity in normal murine mammary gland cells. *PLoS One* **7**, e31032.
- TWENTER, H. M., BELK, A. D., KLOHONATZ, K. M., BASS, L. D., BOUMA, G. J. & BRUEMMER, J. E. (2017). An investigation into miRNAs in the equine epididymis as potential regulators of Spermatozoal maturation. *Journal of Equine Veterinary Science* 48, 61–68.
- UHDE, K., VAN TOL, H., STOUT, T. & ROELEN, B. (2017). MicroRNA expression in bovine cumulus cells in relation to oocyte quality. *Non-Coding RNA* 3, 12.
- UMEMURA, K., ISHIOKA, S., ENDO, T., EZAKA, Y., TAKAHASHI, M. & SAITO, T. (2013). Roles of microRNA-34a in the pathogenesis of placenta accreta. *The Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research **39**, 67–74.
- VASILEVA, A., TIEDAU, D., FIROOZNIA, A., MULLER-REICHERT, T. & JESSBERGER, R. (2009). Tdrd6 is required for spermiogenesis, chromatoid body architecture, and regulation of miRNA expression. *Current Biology* **19**, 630–639.
- VELTHUT-MEIKAS, A., SIMM, J., TUURI, T., TAPANAINEN, J. S., METSIS, M. & SALUMETS, A. (2013). Research resource: small RNA-seq of human granulosa cells reveals miRNAs in FSHR and aromatase genes. *Molecular Endocrinology* 27, 1128–1141.
- VIDIGAL, J. A. & VENTURA, A. (2012). Embryonic stem cell miRNAs and their roles in development and disease. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 22, 428–436.
- VINCENT, S. D., DUNN, N. R., SCIAMMAS, R., SHAPIRO-SHALEF, M., DAVIS, M. M., CALAME, K., BIKOFF, E. K. & ROBERTSON, E. J. (2005). The zinc finger transcriptional repressor Blimp1/Prdm1 is dispensable for early axis formation but is required for specification of primordial germ cells in the mouse. *Development* 132, 1315–1325.
- VISWANATHAN, S. R., MERMEL, C. H., LU, J., LU, C. W., GOLUB, T. R. & DALEY, G. Q. (2009). microRNA expression during trophectoderm specification. *PLoS One* 4, c6143.
- WAINWRIGHT, E. N., JORGENSEN, J. S., KIM, Y., TRUONG, V., BAGHERI-FAM, S., DAVIDSON, T., SVINGEN, T., FERNANDEZ-VALVERDE, S. L., MCCLELLAND, K. S., TAFT, R. J., HARLEY, V. R., KOOPMAN, P. & WILHELM, D. (2013). SOX9 regulates microRNA miR-202-5p/3p expression during mouse testis differentiation. *Biology of Reproduction* 89(34), 1–12.
- WANG, Y., FAN, H., ZHAO, G., LIU, D., DU, L., WANG, Z., HU, Y. & HOU, Y. (2012). miR-16 inhibits the proliferation and angiogenesis-regulating potential of mesenchymal stem cells in severe pre-eclampsia. *The FEBS Journal* 279, 4510–4524.
- WANG, Y., ZHOU, T., WAN, J., YANG, Y., CHEN, X., WANG, J., ZHOU, C., LIU, M., LING, X. & ZHANG, J. (2016). Comparative transcriptome analysis reveals a regulatory network of microRNA-29b during mouse early embryonic development. *Oncotarget* 7, 53772–53782.
- WATANABE, T., TAKEDA, A., TSUKIYAMA, T., MISE, K., OKUNO, T., SASAKI, H., MINAMI, N. & IMAI, H. (2006). Identification and characterization of two novel

Biological Reviews 94 (2019) 415-438 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

classes of small RNAs in the mouse germline: retrotransposon-derived siRNAs in oocvtes and germline small RNAs in testes. *Genes & Development* 20, 1732–1743.

- WESSELS, J. M., EDWARDS, A. K., KHALAJ, K., KRIDLI, R. T., BIDARIMATH, M. & TAYADE, C. (2013). The microRNAome of pregnancy: deciphering miRNA networks at the maternal-fetal interface. *PLoS One* 8, e72264.
- WEST, J. A., VISWANATHAN, S. R., YABUUCHI, A., CUNNIFF, K., TAKEUCHI, A., PARK, I. H., SERO, J. E., ZHU, H., PEREZ-ATAYDE, A., FRAZIER, A. L., SURANI, M. A. & DALEY, G. Q. (2009). A role for Lin28 in primordial germ-cell development and germ-cell malignancy. *Nature* 460, 909–913.
- WRIGHT, E. C., HALE, B. J., YANG, C. X., NJOKA, J. G. & ROSS, J. W. (2016). MicroRNA-21 and PDCD4 expression during in vitro oocyte maturation in pigs. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 14, 21.
- WU, J., BAO, J., WANG, L., HU, Y. & XU, C. (2011). MicroRNA-184 downregulates nuclear receptor corepressor 2 in mouse spermatogenesis. *BMC Developmental Biology* 11, 64.
- WU, J., ZHU, H., SONG, W., LI, M., LIU, C., LI, N., TANG, F., MU, H., LIAO, M., LI, X., GUAN, W., LI, X. & HUA, J. (2014). Identification of conservative microRNAs in Saanen dairy goat testis through deep sequencing. *Reproduction in Domestic Animal* 49, 32–40.
- WU, S., SUN, H., ZHANG, Q., JIANG, Y., FANG, T., CUI, I., YAN, G. & HU, Y. (2015). MicroRNA-132 promotes estradiol synthesis in ovarian granulosa cells via translational repression of Nurr1. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 13, 94.
- XIA, H. F., JIN, X. H., CAO, Z. F., HU, Y. & MA, X. (2014). MicroRNA expression and regulation in the uterus during embryo implantation in rat. *The FEBS Journal* 281, 1872–1891.
- XIAO, G., XIA, C., YANG, J., LIU, J., DU, H., KANG, X., LIN, Y., GUAN, R., YAN, P. & TANG, S. (2014). MiR-133b regulates the expression of the actin protein TAGLN2 during oocyte growth and maturation: a potential target for infertility therapy. *PLoS One* 9, e100751.
- XIE, R., LIN, X., DU, T., XU, K., SHEN, H., WEI, F., HAO, W., LIN, T., LIN, X., QIN, Y., WANG, H., CHEN, L., YANG, S., YANG, J., RONG, X., YAO, K., XIAO, D., JIA, J. & SUN, Y. (2016). Targeted disruption of miR-17-92 impairs mouse spermatogenesis by activating mTOR signaling pathway. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 95, e2713.
- XU, N., PAPAGIANNAKOPOULOS, T., PAN, G., THOMSON, J. A. & KOSIK, K. S. (2009). MicroRNA-145 regulates OCT4, SOX2, and KLF4 and represses pluripotency in human embryonic stem cells. *Cell* 137, 647–658.
- XU, S., LINHER-MELVILLE, K., YANG, B. B., WU, D. & LI, J. (2011a). Micro-RNA378 (miR-378) regulates ovarian estradiol production by targeting aromatase. *Endocrinology* 152, 3941–3951.
- XU, Y. W., WANG, B., DING, C. H., LI, T., GU, F. & ZHOU, C. (2011b). Differentially expressed micoRNAs in human oocytes. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 28, 559–566.
- YADAV, R. P. & KOTAJA, N. (2014). Small RNAs in spermatogenesis. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 382, 498–508.
- YAN, G., ZHANG, L., FANG, T., ZHANG, Q., WU, S., JIANG, Y., SUN, H. & HU, Y. (2012). MicroRNA-145 suppresses mouse granulosa cell proliferation by targeting activin receptor IB. *FEBS Letters* 586, 3263–3270.
- YAN, N., LU, Y., SUN, H., QIU, W., TAO, D., LIU, Y., CHEN, H., YANG, Y., ZHANG, S., LI, X. & MA, Y. (2009). Microarray profiling of microRNAs expressed in testis tissues of developing primates. *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 26, 179–186.
- YAN, N., LU, Y., SUN, H., TAO, D., ZHANG, S., LIU, W. & MA, Y. (2007). A microarray for microRNA profiling in mouse testis tissues. *Reproduction* 134, 73–79.
- YANG, Q., HUA, J., WANG, L., XU, B., ZHANG, H., YE, N., ZHANG, Z., YU, D., COOKE, H. J., ZHANG, Y. & SHI, Q. (2013a). MicroRNA and piRNA profiles in normal human testis detected by next generation sequencing. *PLoS One* 8, e66809.
- YANG, Q., LIN, J., LIU, M., LI, R., TIAN, B., ZHANG, X., XU, B., LIU, M., ZHANG, X., LI, Y., SHI, H. & WU, L. (2016). Highly sensitive sequencing reveals dynamic modifications and activities of small RNAs in mouse oocytes and early embryos. *Molecular Biology* 2, e1501482.
- YANG, Q. E. & OATLEY, J. M. (2014). Spermatogonial stem cell functions in physiological and pathological conditions. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* 107, 235–267.
- YANG, Q. E., RACICOT, K. E., KAUCHER, A. V., OATLEY, M. J. & OATLEY, J. M. (2013b). MicroRNAs 221 and 222 regulate the undifferentiated state in mammalian male germ cells. *Development* 140, 280–290.
- YANG, S., WANG, S., LUO, A., DING, T., LAI, Z., SHEN, W., MA, X., CAO, C., SHI, L., JIANG, J., RONG, F., MA, L., TIAN, Y., DU, X., LU, Y., LI, Y. & WANG, S. (2013c). Expression patterns and regulatory functions of microRNAs during the initiation of primordial follicle development in the neonatal mouse ovary. *Biology of Reproduction* 89(126), 1–11.
- YANG, W. J., YANG, D. D., NA, S., SANDUSKY, G. E., ZHANG, Q. & ZHAO, G. (2005). Dicer is required for embryonic angiogenesis during mouse development. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280, 9330–9335.
- YANG, X., ZHOU, Y., PENG, S., WU, L., LIN, H. Y., WANG, S. & WANG, H. (2012). Differentially expressed plasma microRNAs in premature ovarian failure

patients and the potential regulatory function of mir-23a in granulosa cell apoptosis. *Reproduction* **144**, 235–244.

- YAO, C., SUN, M., YUAN, Q., NIU, M., CHEN, Z., HOU, J., WANG, H., WEN, L., LIU, Y., LI, Z. & HE, Z. (2016). MiRNA-133b promotes the proliferation of human Sertoli cells through targeting GLI3. *Oncotarget* 7, 2201–2219.
- YAO, G., YIN, M., LIAN, J., TIAN, H., LIU, L., LI, X. & SUN, F. (2010a). MicroRNA-224 is involved in transforming growth factor-beta-mediated mouse granulosa cell proliferation and granulosa cell function by targeting Smad4. *Molecular Endocrinology* 24, 540–551.
- YAO, N., YANG, B. Q., LIU, Y., TAN, X. Y., LU, C. L., YUAN, X. H. & MA, X. (2010b). Follicle-stimulating hormone regulation of microRNA expression on progesterone production in cultured rat granulosa cells. *Endocrine* 38, 158–166.
- YIN, M., LU, M., YAO, G., TIAN, H., LIAN, J., LIU, L., LIANG, M., WANG, Y. & SUN, F. (2012). Transactivation of microRNA-383 by steroidogenic factor-1 promotes estradiol release from mouse ovarian granulosa cells by targeting RBMS1. *Molecular Endocrinology* 26, 1129–1143.
- YIN, M., WANG, X., YAO, G., LU, M., LIANG, M., SUN, Y. & SUN, F. (2014). Transactivation of micrornA-320 by microRNA-383 regulates granulosa cell functions by targeting E2F1 and SF-1 proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 289, 18239–18257.
- YU, C., LI, M., WANG, Y., LIU, Y., YAN, C., PAN, J., LIU, J. & CUI, S. (2017). MiR-375 mediates CRH signaling pathway in inhibiting E2 synthesis in porcine ovary. *Reproduction* **153**, 63–73.
- YU, M., MU, H., NIU, Z., CHU, Z., ZHU, H. & HUA, J. (2014). miR-34c enhances mouse spermatogonial stem cells differentiation by targeting Nanos2. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 115, 232–242.
- YU, Z., RAABE, T. & HECHT, N. B. (2005). MicroRNA Mirn122a reduces expression of the posttranscriptionally regulated germ cell transition protein 2 (Tnp2) messenger RNA (mRNA) by mRNA cleavage. *Biology of Reproduction* 73, 427–433.
- YUAN, S., SCHUSTER, A., TANG, C., YU, T., ORTOGERO, N., BAO, J., ZHENG, H. & YAN, W. (2016). Sperm-borne miRNAs and endo-siRNAs are important for fertilization and preimplantation embryonic development. *Development* 143, 635-647.
- YUAN, S., TANG, C., ZHANG, Y., WU, J., BAO, J., ZHENG, H., XU, C. & YAN, W. (2015). Mir-34b/c and mir-449a/b/c are required for spermatogenesis, but not for the first cleavage division in mice. *Biology Open* 4, 212–223.
- ZHANG, H., JIANG, X., ZHANG, Y., XU, B., HUA, J., MA, T., ZHENG, W., SUN, R., SHEN, W., COOKE, H. J., HAO, Q., QIAO, J. & SHI, Q. (2014). microRNA 376a regulates follicle assembly by targeting Pcna in fetal and neonatal mouse ovaries. *Reproduction* 148, 43–54.
- ZHANG, J., JI, X., ZHOU, D., LI, Y., LIN, J., LIU, J., LUO, H. & CUI, S. (2013a). miR-143 is critical for the formation of primordial follicles in mice. *Frontiers in Bioscience (Landmark Ed)* 18, 588–597.
- ZHANG, J., WANG, Y., LIU, X., JIANG, S., ZHAO, C., SHEN, R., GUO, X., LING, X. & LIU, C. (2015). Expression and potential role of microRNA-29b in mouse early embryo development. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 35, 1178–1187.
- ZHANG, N., LYU, Y., PAN, X., XU, L., XUAN, A., HE, X., HUANG, W. & LONG, D. (2017). miR146b5p promotes the neural conversion of pluripotent stem cells by targeting Smad4. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* 40, 814–824.
- ZHANG, Q., SUN, H., JIANG, Y., DING, L., WU, S., FANG, T., YAN, G. & HU, Y. (2013b). MicroRNA-181a suppresses mouse granulosa cell proliferation by targeting activin receptor IIA. *PLoS One* 8, e59667.
- ZHANG, Y., FEI, M., XUE, G., ZHOU, Q., JIA, Y., LI, L., XIN, H. & SUN, S. (2012). Elevated levels of hypoxia-inducible microRNA-210 in pre-eclampsia: new insights into molecular mechanisms for the disease. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 16, 249–259.
- ZHAO, C., HUO, R., WANG, F. Q., LIN, M., ZHOU, Z. M. & SHA, J. H. (2007). Identification of several proteins involved in regulation of sperm motility by proteomic analysis. *Fertility and Sterility* 87, 436–438.
- ZHENG, G. X., RAVI, A., CALABRESE, J. M., MEDEIROS, L. A., KIRAK, O., DENNIS, L. M., JAENISCH, R., BURGE, C. B. & SHARP, P. A. (2011). A latent pro-survival function for the mir-290-295 cluster in mouse embryonic stem cells. *PLoS Genetics* 7, e1002054.
- ZHOU, J., LIU, J., PAN, Z., DU, X., LI, X., MA, B., YAO, W., LI, Q. & LIU, H. (2015). The let-7g microRNA promotes follicular granulosa cell apoptosis by targeting transforming growth factor-beta type 1 receptor. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 409, 103–112.
- ZIELAK-STECIWKO, A. E., BROWNE, J. A., MCGETTIGAN, P. A., GAJEWSKA, M., DZIECIOL, M., SZULC, T. & EVANS, A. C. (2014). Expression of microRNAs and their target genes and pathways associated with ovarian follicle development in cattle. *Physiological Genomics* 46, 735–745.
- ZOVOILIS, A., NOLTE, J., DRUSENHEIMER, N., ZECHNER, U., HADA, H., GUAN, K., HASENFUSS, G., NAYERNIA, K. & ENGEL, W. (2008). Multipotent adult germline stem cells and embryonic stem cells have similar microRNA profiles. *Molecular Human Reproduction* 14, 521–529.

## XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article. **Table S1.** Functions of microRNAs (miRNAs) in sex specification and commitment of the mammalian reproductive system.

**Table S2.** Functions of microRNAs (miRNAs) in spermatogenesis and spermiogenesis.

**Table S3.** Functions of microRNAs (miRNAs) duringfolliculogenesis and oogenesis.

**Table S4.** Functions of microRNAs (miRNAs) in the regulation of steroidogenic cells and hormonal balance.

**Table S5.** Functions of microRNAs (miRNAs) infertilization, implantation and germ-layer specification.

(Received 26 February 2018; revised 25 July 2018; accepted 27 July 2018; published online 27 August 2018)